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MESSAGE TO THE SHAREHOLDSERS ON BEHALF OF 

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

 
Dear shareholders, partners and colleagues, 

 

As we end a financial year and step into a new one, we reflect on our achievements and anticipate 

the opportunities that lie ahead.  

Although 2023 brought multiple challenges for Adiss' business and the sector in which it operates, 

we successfully achieved key milestones, demonstrating adaptability, a strong commitment to 

customers and a focus on improving operations. 

Financially, we have navigated a complex year marked by significant difficulties, but we have 

remained steadfast in achieving our objectives, despite a decrease in turnover due to delays in project 

implementation. On the other hand, the increase in operating profit of 6.42% and EBITDA of 7.01% 

reconfirms our ability to manage resources efficiently in often unfavourable conditions. 

Looking ahead, 2024 brings with it a transition to new funding exercises in partnership with the 

European Union, promising budget allocations adjusted to current economic reality. This budgetary 

adjustment is crucial to make our sector more attractive to investors and to facilitate the resumption 

of previously postponed projects. 

The water supply and sewerage sectors, including wastewater treatment, are expected to increase 

proportionally. ADISS S.A. is determined to capitalise on this opportunity with a view to strengthening 

its leading position in the water treatment market. With our advanced technical skills and long-

standing experience, we are well equipped to meet the changing demands of this vital sector. Our 

efforts are directed towards maximising operational efficiency and providing innovative solutions 

that meet the highest standards of sustainability and efficiency. 

I would like to thank the shareholders, partners and every member of the ADISS team for their trust, 

support and dedication. Without this shared commitment, our achievements would not have been 

possible. 

 

I invite you to see the details of the annual report for a full picture of our performance in 2023, as we 

look forward to 2024 with anticipation and optimism. 

 

 

Sincerely, 

Eniko Dancos  

Chairman of the Board of Directors Adiss S.A. 
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Important events 

 

The year 2023 was marked by important operational achievements and strategic pivots for ADISS 

S.A., reflected in the evolution of projects and continuous adaptation to market requirements and 

environmental priorities. 

A benchmark for the complexity of the projects that ADISS can manage and implement, the final 

acceptance of works for the CL 47 contract, concluded with R.A.J.A Constanta, the largest regional 

public operator in Romania in the field of drinking water supply and wastewater treatment, was 

carried out at the end of 2023. 

This large-scale technical project, signed in 2018 and started in 2019, included the construction and 

modernization of wastewater treatment plants in the localities of Băneasa, Negru Vodă, Jegălia and 

Căzănești, representing an essential pillar for the regional infrastructure and environmental 

protection. With a total value of 58.157.898,90 Ron (without VAT), the implementation of the whole 

project demonstrated the consensus of ADISS mission in the sustainable development of 

communities. 

The success of work under the ADISS umbrella underlines the company's ongoing commitment to 

innovation, sustainability and operational excellence. Going forward, the company remains focused 

on developing advanced technical solutions and strengthening strategic partnerships to add value 

to the communities and environment in which it operates. 

In addition, another important aspect of 2023 was the change in stock management strategy to 

make logistics more efficient and optimise costs.  

By more closely linking its own production process with the implementation status of projects carried 

out by the company's external partners, ADISS aimed to reduce the risk of excessive product stock, 

optimise workflows and increase overall operational efficiency. 

For ADISS, the year 2023 ends with positive operational results, despite the challenges to which the 

management team had to respond promptly and fluently in the current macroeconomic and 

geopolitical context.  

The level of turnover, closely related to the stage of implementation of some works or project stages, 

reaches the threshold of 38.13 million lei, 11.72% below the level for 2022. The decrease in turnover 

in the reporting period is justified by the delays in civil works by the construction companies, which 

led to the hindrance of delivery of Adiss equipment to the construction sites. The pace of work of the 

contractors was slowed down by the lack of public funds for the payment of the works carried out. 

On the other hand, the result from operating activity increased by 6.42%, exceeding 2.24 million lei at 

the end of the 2023 financial year. However, the accelerated pace of increase in financial expenses 

during the reporting period generated a financial loss of 2.05 million lei. On the basis of the 

development of the financial result, the Company reports a net profit as at 31.12.2023, down by 

85.2% to RON 91 thousand. 

From an operational point of view, in 2023, ADISS carried out 33 contracts worth more than 91.8 

million lei and signed 16 new contracts worth a total of 23.7 million lei. These contracts included the 

supply of Adipur compact stations, wastewater treatment plant equipment and related services. The 

execution periods for the projects ranged from 3 to 9 months and the receipts took place between 3 
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and 12 months after delivery of the products, with funds provided from the PNDL and POIM 

programmes. 

Among the most important contracts signed and implemented by ADISS during 2023 are: 

Contract no. 165/AP/18.10.2022, concluded with the Water Company AQUATIM S.A., the object of 

the contract being the supply of a sand classifier RoSF4 2, contract value 285.000,00 RON without 

VAT. The term of execution is 6 months from the date of signing the contract, and the term of 

payment is 20 months from the receipt of the invoice, after reception of the products. 

Contract no. 1475/02.09.2022, concluded with SERVICII EDILITARE PENTRU COMUNITATE 

MIOVENI SRL, the subject of the contract being repair works of thick gratings, denisipator, thickening 

and dewatering installations 1 and 2, contract value 335.173,17 RON without VAT - The term of 

execution is 6 months from the payment of the advance, and the method of payment is as follows: 

(1) 50% advance payment of materials, when signing the contract; (2) 50% payment of materials 

when they arrive in the Treatment Plant; (3) 50% advance payment of labour at the beginning of the 

works (4) 50% labour at the end of the works only after signing the acceptance report. 

Contract no. 1657/08.12.2022, concluded with GPI BUILDING LOGISTIC SRL, the object of the 

contract being Sale - Purchase and Installation of ADIPUR BM'2 equipment - 275 mc/day - SE RAFOV 

Prahova, contract value 251.000,00 EURO without VAT - Delivery term is 20.03.2023, and the 

payment modality is maximum 5 days after the payment made by the Final Beneficiary, but not more 

than 60 days after the delivery of the equipment. 

Contract no. 83/29.11.2022, concluded with Societatea de Producere a Energiei Electrice in 

Hidrocentrale HIDROELECTRICA SA, the subject of the contract being Maintenance services at the 

ADIPUR 1300 ELS Wastewater Treatment Plant in Colonia definitively Porțile de Fier II, contract value 

436.318,00 RON without VAT - Contract duration is 24 months - Payment term is a maximum of 30 

calendar days from acceptance of the invoice for payment, after receipt of the services rendered. 

Contract no. 11/AP/19.01.2023, concluded with the Water Company AQUATIM SA, the object of the 

contract being the supply of a Fine Grill, contract value 468.000,00 RON without VAT - The term of 

execution is 6 months from the date of signing the contract, and the term of payment is 30 days from 

the receipt of the invoice, after reception of the products. 

Contract no. 1695/10.02.2023, concluded with TERMOLANG SRL, the object of the contract being 

the Delivery and Installation of an ADIPUR S1 2500 ELS Treatment Plant in Lunca de Sus, Hațeg. 

Contract value 203.000,00 Euro without VAT - The execution term is 120 days from the date of the 

advance payment and the payment term is 60 days from the completion of the installation. 

Contract no. 1696/10.02.2023, concluded with TERMOLANG SRL, the object of the contract being 

the Supply, Installation and Commissioning of Equipment for the OCNA DE JOS - PRAID WATERS. 

Contract value 214.720,26 Euro without VAT - The term of execution is 120 - 150 days from the date 

of payment of the advance, and the term of payment is 100% 14 days after the signing of the contract 

by both parties, i.e. 22.02.2023. 

Contract concluded on 03.05.2023, the object of the contract being the Sale-Purchase, Installation 

and Commissioning of Equipment for ADIPUR BM 1300 ELS - STRUGARI, Bacau. Contract value 

137.750,00 Euro without VAT - The term of execution is 90 days from the constitution of the payment 

guarantees, and the term of payment is in two instalments, as follows: (1) 48.212,50 Euro, excluding 

VAT, within 5 days of payment by the Final Beneficiary, but not more than 60 days after delivery, 

depending on the first deadline reached; (2) 89.537,50 Euro, excluding VAT, within 5 days of payment 

by the Final Beneficiary, but not more than 90 days after delivery, depending on the first deadline 

reached. 
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Contract no. 1707/15.05.2023, concluded with CORNELL'S FLOOR SRL, the object of the contract 

being Sale-Purchase ADIPUR S2 1300 - MIHAI EMINESCU, Loc Cervicești, Botoșani. Contract value 

200.000,00 Euro without VAT - The execution term is 60 days from the date of payment of the 

advance, and the collection term is 5 days from the payment made by the Final Beneficiary, but not 

more than 90 days from the delivery of the equipment. 

Contract no. 1718/21.08.2023, concluded with ROVALSTONE SRL, the object of the contract being 

the Sale-Purchase and Installation of an ADIPUR S1 1000 ELS Treatment Plant in COSNA, Suceava. 

Contract value 99.000,00 Euro without VAT. 

Contract no. 1714/11.08.2023, concluded with GEOMARCO CONSTRUCT SRL, the object of the 

contract being the Sale-Purchase and Installation of Equipment for the wastewater treatment plant 

in ION CORVIN, Constanta. Contract value 229.000,00 Euro without VAT. 

Contract no. 1717/31.08.2023, concluded with SALIGNY CONSTRUCTIONS SRL, the object of the 

contract being the Sale-Purchase and Installation of Equipment for the IRIS TITAN SHOPPING 

CENTER Wastewater Treatment Plant, Bucharest. Contract value 193.000,00 Euro without VAT. 

Contract no. 1722/17.10.2023, concluded with IMPERIAL PROCONSTRUCT SRL, the object of the 

contract being the Sale-Purchase and Installation of Equipment for an ADIPUR S1 2000 ELS 

wastewater treatment plant in POCOLA, Bihor.   Contract value 1.132.500,00 Ron without VAT. 

Contract no. 2632/2023/1069900346/17.10.2023, signed with PORR CONSTRUCT SRL, the object 

of the contract being the Supply and Installation of Equipment at the FETESTI Wastewater Treatment 

Plant, Ialomita. Contract value 237.930,00 Eur without VAT. 
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ABOUT ADISS S.A. 

 

Adiss is a Romanian engineering company specialized in the field of wastewater treatment and 

purification, producing and marketing compact plants and process equipment. ADISS started its 

activity in 1993 and its main field of activity is "Manufacture of other general-purpose machinery", 

according to CAEN code 2829. 

The company is active in the wastewater treatment and purification market providing internally 

developed solutions based on technological competence and vertical integration of a complete set 

of specialisations.  

Adiss is the only Romanian manufacturer of compact containerized wastewater treatment plants 

with its own technology, a flexible, efficient and sustainable option, designed and built for maximum 

safety in achieving the targeted parameters - Adipur.  

Adiss provides full design and consultancy services for industrial and municipal water treatment 

plants and equipment. Quality standards are maintained through internal equipment renewal 

programmes and strict quality control: ISO 9001, 14001, 45001. 

Technological processes comply with environmental regulations, being supported by environmental 

and impact studies for each station located by ADISS (European Union Council Directive No. 

91/271/EEC - 21.05.1991, HG 188/20.03.2002 amended and supplemented by HG 352/11.05.2005 

according to NP 133/2013). 

The company focuses on process engineering to develop high-performance solutions specific to 

environmental conditions and sources generating untreated water. 

Water and engineering  

Wastewater treatment is a sign of civilisation in a society. In Romania, the field has evolved slowly 

but steadily since the landmark event of the revolution. In 2000, fewer than one in five households 

were connected to a sewage treatment plant; today it is one in two. The issuer has taken full 

responsibility for providing the framework for sustainable water management.  

The compact wastewater treatment plants produced under the ADISS own brand are proof of the 

company's competence and development in advancing water engineering in Romania. All the years 

of experience in large-scale complex projects and all the partnerships the Issuer's team has had to 

learn from, starting with the long-standing relationship with Huber, have led to this moment. Since 

2000, ADISS has started to produce the compact containerized water treatment plant, the first 

product-solution in its own concept, under the name Adipur.  

Adiss can build Adipur compact plants integrating any of the proven water treatment technologies. 

The technology incorporated in the compact plants is designed for advanced domestic wastewater 

treatment for 20 to 6,000 population equivalents. In particular cases, a plant can be expanded to 

serve up to 12,000 inhabitants. The compact form is space efficient. The modular design allows it to 

operate from low flow to the maximum flow for which it was designed, contributing significantly to 

the reduction of technology flow costs. The station is continuously controlled and monitored by a 

single automation system that ensures automatic operation. 
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Looking to the future 

Mission 

For a quarter of a century, for municipalities and industries, ADISS is the engineering company that 

offers top solutions in the field of water treatment and purification, with specific technical experience 

in Romania. ADISS' work combines people and technology, water and engineering, determination and 

precision, health and infrastructure, ambition and assumption, courage and science. Water comes 

first, it is at the heart of ADISS' work, and engineering is the way in which the water sector is served. 

Water means purification, treatment, waste water, drinking water, in short, clean water.  

The mission of ADISS is to contribute to the sustainable future of communities in Romania by 

addressing water challenges. 

Vision - access to clean water 

The company is working towards a sustainable future in which the water of Romanian communities 

is in good hands, treated with great respect, scientific precision and immense responsibility to 

people, public health and the environment. 

Values 

ADISS operates by promoting an organizational culture based on five core values: integrity, 

collaboration, curiosity, performance, ownership. These have brought ADISS people together from the 

beginning, kept them together for years, and continue to guide them every day. In its field, the ADISS 

brand is synonymous with: 

• Concern for the future 

• Leadership in Romania 

• Multidisciplinarity 

• Continuous improvement 

• Flawless execution 

Strategic steps 

Adiss is a Romanian benchmark in its segment of activity, its strategic objectives being:  

• Consolidation of the leading position in the Romanian wastewater treatment market and 

accelerated expansion in the water treatment market  

• Increased profitability through internal process optimisation and energy efficiency 

• Full digitisation of company activities  

• Debt reduction  

• Focus on energy efficiency and carbon footprint reduction technologies 

• Diversification of the product portfolio 

• Expansion of the client base and a significant reduction in the degree of concentration of the 

client portfolio 

• Individualization of the design and technological consultancy services activity and 

expansion of the customer portfolio for water treatment and purification products and 

services through the implementation of the Technology Hub concept between world leading 

companies and the Romanian market oriented towards improving water quality and 

reducing carbon footprint.  
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The fundamental strategy by which management approaches the achievement of strategic 

objectives involves extensive business development supported by the following pillars: 

• strengthening the leading position in the water treatment market 

• business-unit development for online sales of water quality improvement products  

• Diversifying the customer base and reducing the concentration of the customer portfolio 

 

Mergers. Acquisitions. Asset disposals 

During the financial year ending 2023, there were no significant mergers, divisions, acquisitions, 

changes in the Company's assets or reorganisations. During the financial year 2023 no acquisitions 

or disposals of assets with a significant impact on the Company's business have taken place or been 

recorded. 

 

Elements of general evaluation of Adiss activity 
 

The economic and financial operations and transactions carried out by the Company were recorded 

on the basis of supporting documents and recorded in the accounting records, in accordance with 

the legal provisions in force, and the results obtained as at 31.12.2022 are: 

a) Net profit: 91.056 lei 

Although the efforts aimed at the operational efficiency of the current activity keep the operating 

result in a positive and ascending note, the deepening of the loss in the financial activity leads to 

the reduction of the net result of the company by 85.24% as of 31.12.2023, up to the amount of 

91 thousand lei. 

For the current year, ADISS management remains focused on developing strategic partnerships 

that will boost revenues and correct profitability indicators as soon as possible. 

 

b) Net turnover: 

 

As of 31.12.2023, the company records a turnover of 38.13 million Lei, 11.72% below the level of 

the same period of the previous year. 

The evolution of the company's turnover is closely correlated with the stage of development of 

the works or stages of the projects contracted by Adiss S.A. The 11.72% decrease in turnover 

during the reporting period is explained by the fact that some contracts could not be carried out 

due to delays recorded by the builders in the civil works, which led to a delay in the delivery of 

Adiss equipment to the construction sites. The pace of work by contractors was slowed down 

by the lack of public funds to pay for the work carried out. 

ADISS management's pro-active approaches aim to increase tender presence through strategic 

use of its own resources, strengthen relationships with existing clients and expand strong 

partnerships to ensure the company's success in the marketplace. 
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c) Costs 

 

As of 31.12.2023, operating expenses decrease proportionally to the decrease in operating 

income and record 35.45 million lei, down 20.28% compared to the same period last year. The 

evolution of operating expenses is mostly due to the decrease in expenses related to external 

services provided by third parties (-50.93%), following the completion of works related to the 

contract concluded with R.A.J.A. Constanta.  

 

All amounts are expressed in lei unless otherwise 
specified 

31.12.2022 
(audited) 

31.12.2023 
(audited) 

Evolution  
(%) 

Share in 
the 

relevant 
structure 

OPERATING EXPENDITURE, of which: 44.480.195 35.457.540 -20,28% 100,00% 

Expenditure on raw materials and consumables 16.186.156 16.646.118 2,84% 46,95% 

Other material expenditure 134.120 112.259 -16,30% 0,32% 

Expenditure on utilities 160.947 147.483 -8,36% 0,42% 

Expenditure on goods 49.871 9.273 -81,40% 0,03% 

Staff expenditure 5.553.433 5.514.851 -0,69% 15,55% 

Value adjustments on tangible and intangible assets 680.243 604.271 -11,16% 1,70% 

Operating expenditure on depreciation of fixed assets 680.243 604.271 -11,16% 1,70% 

Value adjustments on current assets  135.980  0,38% 

Other operating expenditure 21.715.425 12.287.305 -43,42% 34,65% 

Expenditure on external benefits 20.899.341 11.287.696 -45.99% 31,83% 

Expenditure on royalties, management fees and 
rents 

142.385 268.610 88.65% 0,76% 

Expenditure on other taxes, duties and similar 
charges; expenditure on transfers and 
contributions payable under special legal acts 

203.685 230.365 13.10% 0,65% 

Other expenses 470.014 500.634 6,51% 1,41% 

     

 

d) Cash Flow 

Indicator 31.12.2021 31.12.2022 31.12.2023 

Net cash from operating activities (6.498.000) (2.135.494) 176.004 

Net cash from investing activities (644.785) (324.176) (535.508) 

Net cash from financing activities 7.622.142 3.043.549 (98.012) 

Cash and cash equivalents at 
 end of period 

593.923 997.802 540.286 
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e) Liquidity, solvency and leverage indicators 

LIQUIDITY INDICATORS OPTIMUM 
INTERVAL 

2021 2022 2023 

current liquidity (AC/DC) >2 1,48 1,38 1,48 

Immediate liquidity (AC-
Stocks)/Current liabilities 

>1 0,47 0,46 0,49 

quick liquidity (Cash and cash 
equivalents/Current liabilities) 

>0,5 0,016 0,022 0,013 

Financial solvency (TA/TD) >1 1,64 1,53 1,55 

Balance sheet solvency (Own 
capital / Own capital +TD) 

>30% 38,97% 34,64% 35,32% 

Term debt ratio index 
(DTL/Equity+DTL) 

<50% 13,07% 18,61% 22,44% 

Indebtedness ratio (DT/TA)*100 <80% 61,03% 65,36% 64,68% 

 

The decrease in current liabilities by RON 2.99 million in the reporting period is reflected in the 

dynamics of liquidity indicators, their variation marking an upward slope in the period under review, 

with positive effects on the short-term creditworthiness of the company. Although the quick liquidity 

indicator is significantly below the minimum threshold, the risk regarding the susceptibility to cash 

shortages is mitigated by the funds permanently available to the company through the contracted 

credit facilities. 

The financial solvency indicator is above the minimum level considered to be at risk, as the 

Company's total liabilities are supported by total assets held. The long-term balance of internal and 

external sources of funding is maintained at a constant value and is within the benchmark limits of 

the indicators. The support of the activity by bank financing is reflected in the level of the leverage 

ratios, which, although increasing, remain within the range considered optimal. 
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Technical level assessment. ADISS offer 

According to the Treaty of Accession to the European Union, all localities in Romania have to align 

with European requirements for sewerage infrastructure, so that fieach household or first industrial 

unit discharges wastewater into a sewerage system within certain quality limits. From the sewage 

network, waste water passes through a treatment plant (waste water treatment) which cleans the 

water so that it can be discharged into an outfall. 

This system of sewerage and domestic wastewater treatment plants constitutes the water 

infrastructure, and the responsibility for its configuration and operation is assumed by water 

companies owned by the communities they serve. 

The issuer is among the only Romanian manufacturers of compact stations and process equipment, 

offering design, development, project management, consulting and maintenance solutions, under 

the concept of "end to end solutions". Thus, the ADISS product range integrates complete solutions, 

from consulting to implementation and maintenance services. 

 

Operational indicators 

ADISS, a leader in the national water treatment market, is a company that, starting from a core of 

technology, can operate in the water market from several perspectives:  

• As a General Contractor, in which case it participates in public tenders for extensive 

infrastructure works and undertakes the entire process of implementing or rehabilitating 

treatment plants;  

• As a Sub-Contractor for mechanical and electrical works or acting as a manufacturer and 

supplier of equipment for companies that have won major infrastructure works;  

• As an After Sales Service Provider. 

During 2023, ADISS successfully completed the acceptance of the works for the R.A.J.A. General 

Contracting project. Constanta, the largest project undertaken and completed by ADISS. R.A.J.A. S.A. 

is the most important regional public operator in Romania in the field of drinking water supply and 

wastewater treatment, serving more than three million beneficiaries.  

The development and implementation of the project was phased over 4 years and the total value of 

the contract was 58,157,898.90 lei. The works covered design, civil works, equipment production, 

equipment procurement, electrical & SCADA works and commissioning of the Băneasa, Negru Vodă 

wastewater treatment plant, Jegălia wastewater treatment plant and Căzănești wastewater 

treatment plant respectively. 

Being such a large project, the resources trained by ADISS were both on the Process Equipment 

business line and the General Entrepreneurship line. 

Given the interconnection of the two lines, the completion of the last stage of the project in the 

second part of 2023 justifies the dynamics of both business segments in 2023 compared to 2022. 

As of 31.12.2023, the AG line cumulates sales 3.25% below the 2022 total, while the SE Supply and 

Process Equipment line totals 18.96% below the values reported as of 31.12.2022. The values 

reported as at 31.12.2022 basically reflect the intensity of work, which culminated during 2022. 
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On the other hand, activity in the two business lines was hampered by delays in civil works by builders, 

which made it difficult for Adiss equipment to be delivered to sites. The pace of work by contractors 

was slowed by the lack of public funds to pay for the work carried out. 

As a measure to reduce the impact of this risk in the future, Adiss has adopted a new logistics 

strategy, aiming at a closer correlation of its own production process with the implementation status 

of projects carried out by the company's external partners. 

 

 Distribution of turnover by business 
lines (lei): 

2020 2021 2022 2023 

General Entrepreneurship (GA) 7.925.966 9.574.874 13.217.851 12.788.634 

Supply of SE and process 
equipment 

27.530.835 25.474.276 26.908.304 21.807.171 

Services 4.982.574 1.790.571 3.074.849 3.540.903 

 TOTAL 40.439.375 36.839.721 43.201.004 38.136.708 

 

The service line shows an increase of 15.16% in FY2023 compared to FY2022, reconfirming the 

potential of this segment, especially in a context where exposure to tenders has been hampered. 

For the coming period, management plans to focus on optimising the current product range and 

expanding the after-sales service offering. This approach is intended to ensure a strengthening of 

the company's position in the market and to increase customer satisfaction through continuous 

improvement of quality and performance. 

As of 31.12.2023, the structure of ADISS S.A.'s turnover by product category reveals a 33.53% share 

of civil works related to General Contracting projects, while Compact Water Treatment Plants have 

a 27.53% share, also marking a 22% increase in 2023 compared to 2022. The ADISS offer is 

complemented by process equipment, with a 31% contribution to sales volume in 2023, and by the 

service component, ADISS' differentiating factor, with a 5.48% contribution from after-sales services 

and 2.44% from other services. 

 

 Distribution of turnover by product 
category (lei): 

2020 2021 2022 2023 

AG 7.925.966 9.574.874 13.217.851 12.788.634 

Compact water treatment plants 16.480.662 11.248.889 8.605.315 10.499.709 

Process equipment 11.046.950 2.292.344 18.302.989 11.828.393 

Post-sale services 3.774.117 2.569.242 2.706.362 2.089.396 

Other services 1.211.680 1.601.941 368.487 930.576 

TOTAL 40.439.375 36.839.721 43.201.004 38.136.708 

 

At the territorial level, 44.78% of the turnover for 2023 is concentrated in the region of Muntenia-

Dobrogea, while the regions of Transylvania and Moldova provide 32.55% and 17.14% respectively 

of ADISS products and services. 
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Geographical distribution of turnover 
(lei) 

2020 2021 2022 2023 

MUNTENIA + DOBROGEA 15.653.901 21.352.487 31.166.255 17.077.405 

MOLDOVA 11.159.024 8.439.512 6.508.106 6.535.533 

CRISANA 9.037.747 1.841.332 228.120 1.133.305 

TRANSILVANIA 3.796.325 1.375.074 5.229.721 12.412.173 

BANAT 792.378 3.831.316 68.802 978.292 

TOTAL 40.439.375 36.839.721 43.201.004 38.136.708 

 

In addition to the successful final acceptance of the R.A.J.A. contract works, ADISS' customer 

portfolio expanded in 2023 with 13 new customers and 16 new contacts were signed for a total of 

23.7 million lei, for the supply of compact treatment plants and process equipment. Execution 

deadlines are in the range of 6-16 months and funding is provided through the PNDL, AFIR and POIM 

programmes. 

2023 Operational Summary 

2023 
 

Number Subject 

Total value 
(mil lei 
without 

VAT) 

Execution 
deadline 

range 

Collection 
period 
range 

Funds 
(PNDL/AFIR/own 

funds) 

Contracts 
performed 

33 

compact 
stations, 
supply 
equip 

91.8 
3 - 9 

months 
3 - 12 

months 
PNDL, POIM 

New 
contracts 
signed 

16 

compact 
stations, 
supply 
equip 

23.7 
6 - 16 

months 
3 - 12 

months 
PNDL, AFIR, POIM 

Participation 
in auctions 

2 
Equipment 

supply 
54.5 

36 
months 

3 months POIM 

 

Although 2023 continued to bring challenges for the water infrastructure market, the company's 

management is looking optimistically at the opportunities this year. 

At European level, the transition to new funding exercises in partnership with the European Union is 

being set in motion. The new budgets allocated for the work are expected to reflect more accurately 

current economic realities. This budgetary adjustment is essential to ensure and enhance the 

attractiveness of the water industry sector in a context of driving works and accelerating the start of 

new projects. 
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Evaluation of procurement activity  

 

 The main suppliers of parts and mechanical elements needed for ADISS' technological flow are local 

manufacturers or importers. ADISS has not developed a dependency on a single supplier, with the 

top 10 suppliers together invoicing 50.1% of the total order value. 

 

Trade partner Share (%) in order 
value 31.12.2023 

Supplier 1                          14.13% 

Supplier 2                          10.11% 

Supplier 3                            4.88% 

Supplier 4                            4.48% 

Supplier 5                            4.47% 

Supplier 6                            3.57% 

Supplier 7                            2.71% 

Supplier 8                            2.20% 

Supplier 9                            1.93% 

Supplier 10                            1.62% 

 

In Romania, ADISS is the representative of the German company Huber, thanks to a successful 

partnership that lasts for more than 20 years. Huber is a world leader in the production of process 

equipment for water treatment.  

For efficient management of cash flows, 85%-95% of payments to suppliers are made via 

commercial paper, i.e. promissory notes with maturities of 30-240 days. 

 

Evaluation of sales activity 

 

 Adiss S.A. has defined its target market by providing sustainable solutions focused on water quality, 

energy efficiency and carbon footprint reduction, implemented through a full range of process 

equipment and services for water treatment and purification processes. 

Geographically, the Issuer operates in the water treatment and purification market throughout 

Romania. As a general contractor, the Issuer participates in public tenders for large infrastructure 

works and undertakes the entire process of implementing or rehabilitating treatment plants. As a 

sub-contractor, the company provides services or process equipment for wastewater treatment and 

purification. 
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Geographical distribution of turnover 
(lei) 

2020 2021 2022 2023 

MUNTENIA + DOBROGEA 15.653.901 21.352.487 31.166.255 17.077.405 

MOLDOVA 11.159.024 8.439.512 6.508.106 6.535.533 

CRISANA 9.037.747 1.841.332 228.120 1.133.305 

TRANSILVANIA 3.796.325 1.375.074 5.229.721 12.412.173 

BANAT 792.378 3.831.316 68.802 978.292 

TOTAL 40.439.375 36.839.721 43.201.004 38.136.708 

 
Operationally, in 2023, ADISS carried out 33 contracts worth more than 91.8 million lei and signed 16 

new contracts worth a total of 23.7 million lei (Adipur compact plants, supply of equipment for 

wastewater treatment plants and service). The execution deadlines are 3-16 months and the 

payment deadlines are between 3-12 months from the delivery of the products, the funds being 

provided by PNDL, POIM and AFIR programmes.  

 

Target market. Outlook 

Globally, there is a trend towards transformational investment practices by professional investors1 , 

aiming to convert global systemic risks into sustainable returns. Water security is now one of the six 

major global systemic investment trends2 , alongside technological change, climate change, low or 

negative long-term real interest rates, demographic change and geopolitical instability. 

The United Nations has defined the decade 2018-2028 as the "decade of action on water 

management" as a warning of an impending global water crisis, estimating a 40% shortfall in global 

freshwater resources by 2030, which the wastewater management sector can greatly mitigate 

through the multiple reuses it can generate through water engineering. In the future, investment in 

wastewater management will move beyond water security to the fuller benefits of the economic, 

social and environmental benefits that can be gained from the wise reuse of wastewater. Actions to 

implement sound wastewater management are therefore adaptive actions: rain-fed agriculture will 

have to adapt to new irrigation alternatives, predominantly from treated wastewater, and health care 

systems will have to cope with changes in ecological systems, which depend directly on the quality 

level of wastewater.  

The global water treatment and purification market was valued at $265.3 billion in 2018, with a 

projected annual growth rate of 7.1% according to Fortune Business Insights, and is estimated to 

reach a value of $456.58 billion by 2026.3 Growth will be predominantly in the services segment.  

Other market studies estimate an annual growth rate of 6% for the wastewater treatment services 

market and about 4% for the treatment equipment market, as follows: 

 

 

 

 
1 Source: https://www.gic.com.sg/thinkspace/trendsetters-transformational-investment-practices-of-advanced-
investors/  
2 Source: http://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF_Transformational_Investment_2020.pdf 

3 Source: https://www.fortunebusinessinsights.com/water-and-wastewater-treatment-market-102632  

https://www.gic.com.sg/thinkspace/trendsetters-transformational-investment-practices-of-advanced-investors/
http://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF_Transformational_Investment_2020.pdf
https://www.fortunebusinessinsights.com/water-and-wastewater-treatment-market-102632
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Domain Sector An CAGR 

General 
Entrepreneurship 

The global water purifier market4 2020-2027 7.20% 

The global point-of-use water treatment systems5 2020-2025 9.29% 

Water treatment systems6 2020-2027 4.10% 

average AG  6.86% 

Purification 
services 

Wastewater Treatment Service7 2020-2025 5.52% 

 Industrial Wastewater Treatment Service Market 
Analysis8 

2020-2024 6.50% 

 average services  6.01% 

Equipment Water And Wastewater Treatment Equipment Market 
Size9 

2020-2027 3.70% 

 Water and Wastewater Treatment Equipment Market10 2020-2024 4,0% 

 average equipment  3.85% 

 

At the national level, Romania's National Strategy for Sustainable Development 2030 aims to develop 

water and sanitation infrastructure in order to align Romania with EU requirements and standards, 

and aims, among other things, to : 

• connecting at least 90% of households in towns, communes and compact villages to the 

drinking water and sewerage network; 

• extending the rational reuse of treated and recycled water with a view to achieving the 

objectives of the circular economy 

• reducing the proportion of untreated wastewater and substantially increasing the recycling 

and safe reuse of water. 

 

Competition 

A pioneer in water management in Romania, the company has been working for 31 years on the most 

ambitious projects in the country, constantly striving to raise industry standards, a fact confirmed by 

the various competitiveness awards it has won over the years. The key competitive advantage of 

ADISS is the offering of E2ES (End-to-End Solutions) services, the business covering everything from 

consulting and design with the company's process technologies and flow design and simulation 

software, to in-house production in its own production hall, sales, installation/implementation, 

operation, monitoring, maintenance, know-how transfer and 24/7 service, it sometimes also 

 
4 Source: https://www.globenewswire.com/news-release/2020/06/30/2055662/0/en/Water-Purifier-Market-Size-to-
Reach-USD-45-00-Billion-by-2027-Unveiling-of-Smart-Purifiers-to-Brighten-Sales-Possibilities-states-Fortune-Business-
Insights.html  
5 Source: https://www.marketsandmarkets.com/Market-Reports/point-of-use-water-treatment-systems-market-
131277828.html  

6 Source: https://www.grandviewresearch.com/industry-analysis/point-entry-water-treatment-systems-market  

7 Source: https://www.marketdataforecast.com/market-reports/wastewater-treatment-service-market  

8 Source: https://pprathmesh367.medium.com/industrial-wastewater-treatment-service-market-analysis-business-
revenue-forecast-size-leading-9b683f61dd25  
9 Source: https://www.grandviewresearch.com/industry-analysis/water-and-wastewater-treatment-equipment-market 
10 Source: https://www.businesswire.com/news/home/20200602005820/en/Water-and-Wastewater-Treatment-
Equipment-Market-2020-2024-Increasing-Use-of-Water-in-Industrial-Sector-to-Boost-Growth-Technavio  

https://www.globenewswire.com/news-release/2020/06/30/2055662/0/en/Water-Purifier-Market-Size-to-Reach-USD-45-00-Billion-by-2027-Unveiling-of-Smart-Purifiers-to-Brighten-Sales-Possibilities-states-Fortune-Business-Insights.html
https://www.globenewswire.com/news-release/2020/06/30/2055662/0/en/Water-Purifier-Market-Size-to-Reach-USD-45-00-Billion-by-2027-Unveiling-of-Smart-Purifiers-to-Brighten-Sales-Possibilities-states-Fortune-Business-Insights.html
https://www.globenewswire.com/news-release/2020/06/30/2055662/0/en/Water-Purifier-Market-Size-to-Reach-USD-45-00-Billion-by-2027-Unveiling-of-Smart-Purifiers-to-Brighten-Sales-Possibilities-states-Fortune-Business-Insights.html
https://www.marketsandmarkets.com/Market-Reports/point-of-use-water-treatment-systems-market-131277828.html
https://www.grandviewresearch.com/industry-analysis/point-entry-water-treatment-systems-market
https://www.marketdataforecast.com/market-reports/wastewater-treatment-service-market
https://pprathmesh367.medium.com/industrial-wastewater-treatment-service-market-analysis-business-revenue-forecast-size-leading-9b683f61dd25
https://pprathmesh367.medium.com/industrial-wastewater-treatment-service-market-analysis-business-revenue-forecast-size-leading-9b683f61dd25
https://www.grandviewresearch.com/industry-analysis/water-and-wastewater-treatment-equipment-market
https://www.businesswire.com/news/home/20200602005820/en/Water-and-Wastewater-Treatment-Equipment-Market-2020-2024-Increasing-Use-of-Water-in-Industrial-Sector-to-Boost-Growth-Technavio
https://www.businesswire.com/news/home/20200602005820/en/Water-and-Wastewater-Treatment-Equipment-Market-2020-2024-Increasing-Use-of-Water-in-Industrial-Sector-to-Boost-Growth-Technavio
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operates as general contractor for various turnkey projects for new plants or plant 

rehabilitation/upgrading. 

Another key element - a source of competitive advantage for ADISS - is the organizational culture of 

its qualified staff, with a partnership of over 20 years with global leader Huber SE - the world's leading 

manufacturer of process equipment for water purification - a good source of learning how leading 

companies in the field work. 

Adiss S.A. operates in a competitive but highly fragmented market, its main competitors being 

multinational firms present on the Romanian market as providers of water resource management 

services as part of a complex portfolio of infrastructure, construction and environmental services 

they operate. 

A scaling of the Company's market share is dificult to assess, as ficult market players are 

simultaneously carrying out other activities in areas such as waste management, energy 

management or other infrastructure projects, with a wide dispersion of their related CAEN codes - 

from "Manufacture of other general-purpose machinery and equipment" (Adiss) to "Engineering 

activities and related technical consultancy" (C&W Water Control SRL), "Non-specialised wholesale 

trade" (MADA Elemente de Constructions SRL), "Research and development in other natural sciences 

and engineering" (ICPE Bistrita), "Manufacture of structural metal products and parts" (NEDEIAS 

COM), "Manufacture of plastic plates, foils, tubes and profiles" (VALROM Industrie), "Construction of 

utility fluid projects" (Tehnimarket) or "Manufacture of other general-purpose machinery and 

equipment" (DIGITECH). 

Among the domestic market players, the company is among the only Romanian manufacturers of 

compact plants and process equipment in the field of wastewater treatment. 
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Customers 

The ADISS product range integrates complete solutions from consulting to implementation and 

maintenance services. Given this versatility, the target market in which the company operates is 

highly fragmented. Segregating ADISS' customer portfolio by main categories reveals the following 

classification: 

 -Water companies  - Residential or municipal water treatment and purification 

 -Construction companies - Companies engaged in activities involving the construction or 

rehabilitation of sewage treatment plants 

 -Industrial producers  - Companies that in their activity pollute water beyond the limits allowed for 

discharge into the sewerage network. 

The Issuer's top 10 largest clients indicate a high concentration, but a comfortable level of 

dependence, given the scale of projects, contract specifics, contract terms and type of trading 

partners. 

 

Trade partner Tip 
CA weighting at 

31.12.2023 

Client 1  Water company 33.53% 

Client 2 Construction company 15.17% 

Client 3 Industrial manufacturer   9.92% 

Client 4 Construction company 7.16% 

Client 5 Construction company 7.02% 

Client 6 Construction company 3.39% 

Customer 7 Water company 3.09% 

Client 8 Construction company 2.94% 

Customer 9 Construction company 2.43% 

Customer 10 Water company 2.15% 

 

The turnover speed of receivables is 103 days in 2023, indicating a slight slowdown in the collection 

flow compared to 2022, when the number of days was 91. The evolution is justified in the context of 

the timing of payments made on the PNDL and Angel Saligny public funding programmes in the latter 

part of 2023. Compared to 2022, when in the period September-December 2022, payments made on 

these two programmes totalled 2.5 billion, in the same period of 2023, only 10% of this amount was 

paid. 

During 2023, ADISS' client portfolio expanded by approximately 13 new clients. 

In order to hedge the risk arising from long collection periods, the Issuer uses instruments that ensure 

the liquidity of cash flows, such as factoring or BO discounting for receivables with long collection 

periods. 

In line with the Issuer's strategic development directions for the next 3-5 years, the implementation 

of the technological HUB concept between international companies and the Romanian market, as 

well as the orientation of the sales activity towards the online environment will ensure the expansion 

of the customer base and a significant reduction of the degree of concentration. 
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HUMAN RESOURCE 

The organizational culture assumed by the ADISS team, an experienced team, is the most important 

asset of the company, as well as the main vector for the implementation of development strategies 

and the achievement of objectives. During the growth of ADISS, the organisational structure has 

adapted to the needs of the company and changes in strategy. In this process of continuous shaping, 

it has been sought that the human resource valuable to ADISS and in line with the organisational 

culture of the company finds its right role and develops together with ADISS. The ADISS 

organisational culture encourages a working environment based on collaboration and mutual 

support, transforming the company into a space of shared learning and development. 

With a team of specialist engineers and technicians, ADISS aims to design, develop, implement and 

monetise its own professional wastewater treatment solutions. The organisational structure and 

short decision-making chain allow the company to tackle projects promptly.  

The actual number of employees as at 31.12.2023 was 56, of which 25 directly employed and 31 

TESA.  

In the year 2023, the companies' salary expenses amount to 5,514,851 lei, of which: 5,366,847 lei for 

salaries and 148,004 lei for insurance and social protection of employees.  

 

Contractual relations with the executive management and members of the Board of Directors are 

based on mandate contracts. 

The remuneration and promotion policy aims to build employee loyalty and strengthen the unity and 

efficiency of the team. 

Also, through its recruitment policy, the Company intends to facilitate the training of dedicated staff 

identified with the company, the selection criteria being oriented not only towards the education 

profile, formal training or experience of candidates, but especially towards values such as 

confidence, desire for development, motivation and commitment. 

Department  31.12.2023 

PURCHASES  1 

INTERNAL AUDIT  1 

RESEARCH-DESIGN  7 

COMMERCIAL  6 

FINANCIAL  3 

PROJECT MANAGERS  1 

PRODUCTION SERVICE   30 

ADMINISTRATIVE  1 

JURIDIC  1 

MANAGEMENT  3 

CONS. ADMINISTRATION  2 

Total Number of Employees  56 
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 Studies  31.12.2023 

 Primary  7% 

 Media  38% 

 Superior  55% 

 

The staff is not organised in a union, but there are 3 legal representatives of the employees. Relations 

between the company management and employees are governed by labour law, the individual 

employment contract and internal regulations. 

The company did not grant loans to employees. 

During 2023, there were no elements of conflict affecting the relationship between employer and 

employees, with a relationship between management and staff based on communication, trust, 

mutual support, respect and self-discipline. 

 

 

Assessment of aspects related to the impact of the 

issuer's core business on the environment 

Under the principles of social responsibility, the Issuer conducts its business in accordance with the 

regulations and requirements of environmental conservation and protection of ecosystems, one of 

the main duties of the Executive Management is to establish the company's environmental policy 

and to ensure consistency in its implementation in its day-to-day business. The solutions provided 

by the Issuer are developed in-house, using its own technology, ensuring the quality parameters 

established at European and national level. Management policy aims to maintain quality standards 

through internal equipment renewal programmes and strict quality control: ISO 9001, 14001, 45001. 

The technological processes comply with environmental regulations, based on environmental and 

impact studies for each station located by ADISS (Council Directive 91/271/EEC - 21.05.1991, HG 

188/20.03.2002 modified and completed by HG 352/11.05.2005 according to NP 133/2013). 

To this end, the company has implemented an environmental policy aimed at: 

• application of the principles of prevention of environmental pollution and prevention of 

occupational health and safety risks; 

• compliance with legislative requirements and regulations 

• implementation of an Integrated Management System according to ISO 9001 - quality, 

ISO 14001 - environment, ISO 45001 - occupational health and safety with 

responsibilities for planning, ensuring and monitoring the performance of processes in 

order to continuously improve the operating parameters. 

• Setting quality, environmental, occupational health and safety objectives that are 

reviewed and revised regularly to maximise the organisation's performance. 
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• Improving waste management, avoiding soil contamination, improving the 

management of air emissions and wastewater discharges from day-to-day operations 

or as a result of emergencies. 

• Controlling, reducing and mitigating identified risks, improving working conditions and 

adopting a preventive behaviour towards environmental integrity, health and safety at 

work. 

• Raising awareness of environmental, quality, health and safety issues among 

employees and suppliers by promoting the values that guide ADISS' organizational 

culture. 

 

Evaluation of research and development  

The issuer does not carry out any product or process research & development activity whose 

expenditure is capitalised, i.e. which leads to the creation and recording of intangible assets. 

 

 

Risk management  

In the current domestic context characterised by political and economic instability, diverging 

economic and social developments, as well as in the international context marked by the uneven and 

unpredictable dynamics of factors and processes on the regional and global geopolitical scene, 

multiple and closely interrelated interdependencies on a global economic and financial scale, risk 

management is closely monitored by the Issuer. 

The conflict between Russia and Ukraine is affecting the global economy mainly through rising 

commodity prices, supply chain disruptions and rising inflation, impacting consumer behaviour. 

Attracting, retaining and motivating qualified staff, an important asset for the development function 

of the company, a vector of competitiveness and continuous development of the ADISS business. In 

the context of developments in the domestic and European labour market, there is a risk that the 

company will not be able to retain qualified staff and will face difficulties in attracting new employees 

with the right profile for the company's needs. In order to manage this risk preventively, the company 

is considering human resources policies aimed at ensuring the necessary workforce through 

appropriate contractual clauses, through tools to stimulate, motivate and co-engage them, and by 

maintaining an organisational culture that attracts staff in line with the values it has adopted. 

Risks associated with the long production cycle. Due to the nature of its activity, i.e. the production 

of water treatment and purification equipment, the technological flow carried out by the Issuer is 

characterised by long lead times. This nuance of the operational activity can generate variable risks, 

such as: 

a) negative changes in national and international economic conditions; 

b) disadvantageous conditions in the local water engineering market; 

c) financial conditions of national budgets and European financial programmes; 

d) the possibilities of obtaining debt financing; 

e) lack of liquidity and emergence of cash-flow problems 

f) changes in interest rates, tax rates and other operating expenses; 
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g) environmental and operational laws and regulations, planning laws and other 

governmental rules and fiscal policies; 

h) claims for compensation/remedial requests for breaches of environmental legislation; 

i) energy prices; 

j) risks and operational problems arising from the use of certain technologies, equipment 

and mechanical parts; 

k) the client's financial situation, 

l) changes in supply and demand in the water market. 

 

Risks associated with working with public authorities. ADISS' operational activity is in direct 

correlation with the main lines of public financing of the water sector in Romania. Large infrastructure 

projects are mostly financed from public funds, which leads to a dependence on the authorities' local 

infrastructure financing programmes. Any delay in budget execution may have a negative impact on 

the Issuer's operating performance, and therefore on its operating results. In order to mitigate this 

risk, ADISS uses software programs that allow the monitoring of public tenders and the centralisation 

of relevant information. Based on this information, the bidding strategy is developed. 

Logistics risks. Due to macro imbalances in global supply chains, sourcing parts and equipment 

requirements and fulfilling orders on time are subject to multiple logistics risks. The company 

manages this risk through careful advance scheduling of orders with suppliers on the one hand, and 

through its direct customer service on the other. Risk of rising raw material prices Due to macro 

imbalances in global supply chains there is a major increase in raw material and energy prices. Major 

increases in raw material, energy and construction material prices, coupled with the uneven 

application of public procurement legislation, could have a direct negative impact on the construction 

market by blocking ongoing infrastructure projects. The dramatic increase in prices of raw materials, 

construction materials and energy stems from the fact that the pandemic has forced down global 

production capacities and affected international transport flows. In addition, domestic producers are 

very few and either depend on imports of raw materials from non-EU countries (China, Turkey, 

Russia) or produce very small quantities or a reduced range of products. Countries such as Turkey, 

the Russian Federation and China have implemented measures to protect their own markets by 

reducing exports of raw materials and construction materials in an attempt to support their own 

economies. Domestic suppliers have stopped building up stocks because they no longer have 

predictability over prices and delivery times. There has been an increase in demand for building 

materials due to increased construction activity. The company manages this risk by submitting 

requests to authorities or contracting entities for adjustments to the value of material costs for the 

remaining work or equipment to be executed. According to Ordinance No. 15 of 30.08.2021 and 

Ordinance No. 64 of 9.05.2022 public authorities or contracting entities are obliged to initiate legal 

steps to adjust the price of public procurement contracts by concluding addenda to them. 

Liquidity risk is the probability that the Company will not be able to meet its current obligations by 

realising available assets. The dificulty of collecting receivables is a potentially significant source of 

arrears in meeting the Company's payment obligations. By monitoring forecasts of cash 

requirements, the Company's management seeks to ensure that sufficient cash is available to meet 

operational requirements so that the Company can meet its current obligations to its creditors. 

The specificity of the long production cycle activity coupled with the time lags between the 

collection/payment of invoices justifies the value and trend of the liquidity indicators. 
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In order to hedge the risk arising from long collection periods, the Issuer uses instruments that ensure 

the liquidity of cash flows, such as factoring or provisioning for bad debts. 

Credit risk is considered to be the main vulnerability for activities in this sector, which is characterised 

by long production cycles and long payment/collection periods.  

For the current financial year and for the new business strategy, ADISS management is considering 

optimising the policies for managing this risk through careful selection of credit clients based on 

creditworthiness, payment history, economic-financial situation and a more diversified client 

portfolio ensured by the implementation of the targeted strategic directions. 

 

Perspectives on the work of ADISS 

Trends, items, events or uncertainties with a material impact on the issuer's liquidity and earnings 

 

In previous years, the market has been strongly affected by a number of external factors, including 

the global pandemic, geopolitical tensions, the energy crisis and rising inflation. These conditions 

have led to price increases, which have not been adequately reflected in the budgets allocated for 

work in progress. 

This gap between costs and budgets had a negative impact on the progress of existing works and 

the tendering of new projects, as planned budgets were not sufficient to cover unexpectedly high 

costs. This has created a difficult environment for the water industry sector, limiting both expansion 

opportunities and the ability to initiate essential new projects. 

Looking ahead to this year, however, there are grounds for optimism. The transition to new funding 

exercises in partnership with the European Union is underway, with the prospect that new budgets 

allocated for works will more accurately reflect current economic realities. This budgetary 

adjustment is essential to ensure that the water industry sector becomes more attractive, leading to 

further work and new projects. 

This positive transition has the potential to make the water industry much more attractive to 

investors and partners, ensuring the conditions for sustainable growth and the resumption of 

projects that were delayed in the previous period. Consistently, as the company recalibrates its 

strategy and operates cautiously in this changing economic landscape, ADISS management 

maintains an optimistic outlook on the industry's ability to adapt and thrive in the context of new 

financial and economic realities. 

The ADISS team acts strategically by continuously identifying opportunities represented by 

wastewater treatment works to be implemented by municipalities as well as complementary market 

niches (e.g. water treatment) in order to expand operational activity. The Income and Expenditure 

Budget for 2024 proposed for approval at the General Meeting of Shareholders convened on 

29.04.2023 covers the following amounts: 
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All amounts are in lei unless otherwise specified:  2024 

Operating income, of which: 38.030.985 

Turnover 41.820.518 

Operating expenses 35.389.488 

Operational result 2.641.497 

Financial result -1.372.796 

Gross result 1.268.701 

Net result 1.009.709 

 

In terms of strategic development directions, in the next financial year management intends to direct 

resources towards optimising the current product range and expanding the after-sales service 

offering. This approach is intended to ensure a strengthening of ADISS' position in the market and to 

increase customer satisfaction through continuous improvement in quality and performance. 

At the same time, ADISS management's pro-active approaches are aimed at increasing the 

company's presence at auctions through strategic use of its own resources, strengthening 

relationships with existing clients and expanding strong partnerships to ensure the company's 

success in the market. 

 

Main objectives for 2024: 

• Participation in tenders organized in Romania for construction works of wastewater 

treatment plants, as general contractor or as declared subcontractor. 

• Participation in tenders organized in Romania for water treatment plant construction works. 

• Diversification of the range of products and services 

-H2 OK.ro - CURE WATER SHOP 

-FOSE SEPTICE  

-CONSULTING AND DESIGN 

• Achieving the volume of revenue programmed through the BVC for 2024 

• Product promotion on POIM 

• Ensuring human and financial resources for the implementation of the BVC 2024 

 

Capital expenditure 

During the financial year 2023, no acquisitions or disposals of assets with a significant impact on the 

Company's business have taken place or have been recorded.  

In 2024, capital expenditure will focus on maintenance of the production hall and upgrades needed 

to comply with environmental legislation and fire protection rules. Where necessary, the company 

will invest in modern equipment and green technologies to optimise operations and ensure 

workplace safety. To minimise the financial impact of these essential investments, management is 

focusing on obtaining grant funding where possible to cover part of these costs. This would enable 

the company to maintain operational performance and meet safety standards without 

compromising profitability. 
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Significant transactions 

                         Amounts due and receivable from related parties: 

 

 

Customers 

 

 
                           The transactions with Adiss Nova consist of the sale of sewage treatment plants according 

to ongoing contracts, respectively:  

•  for the Magurele wastewater treatment plant according to c-da nr. 25/16.11.2022; 

• for the Baltatesti treatment plant according to c-da nr. 23/18.03.2022; 

• for the Lunca treatment plant according to c-da no. 28/25.10.2023; 

• for the Strugari wastewater treatment plant according to c-da nr. 27/03.05.2023. 

 

 

                          The transactions with Spa Metisse consist of the sale of goods and with Adiss Asset 

Management for invoicing of management, maintenance and utilities services under contract 

no. 1306/25.06.2021. 

 

 

Suppliers 

Company name Contacts 
Sold 

31.12.2022 D Flow rate Rulaj credit 
Sold 

31.12.2023 D 

ADISS NOVA SRL 
services+finished 

products 1.426.007,25 4.501.491,88 4.478.752,25 1.448.746,98 

EVO CAPITAL SRL 
services+finished 

products 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 

SPA METISE SRL mfa sale 330,00 0,00 0,00 330,00 

VAN DER HANN SRL  0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 

CORNEL RAT 

FOUNDATION   0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00 

ADISS ASETT 

MANAGEMENT Services  57.354,57 164.220,00 170.125,02 51.449,55 

TOTAL  1.483.691,82 4.665.711,98 4.648.877,27 1.500.526,53 

Company name Contacts 

Sold 

31.12.2022 

C Flow rate Rulaj credit 

Sold 

31.12.2023 

C 

ADISS NOVA SRL services 0.00 0,00 11.740,54 11.740,54 

EVO CAPITAL SRL services 129.134,50 0,00 0,00 129.134,50 

SPA METISE SRL services 0.00 0,00 0,00 0.00 

VAN DER HANN SRL  0.00 0,00 0,00 0.00 

CORNEL RAT 

FOUNDATION 
 Rental 

services 4.000,00 22.360,00 25.953,00 407,00 
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During 2023, ADISS carried out transactions with the Cornel Rat Foundation consisting of 

rental services for a car purchased by leasing from Unicredit Leasing and with Adiss Asset 

Management consisting of utility re-invoicing (electricity, gas, water). 

Adiss takes out loans of 440,000 lei from Adiss Asset Management and of 90,000 lei from 

Van Der Hann, according to the contracts concluded, with a due date of 1 year and zero 

interest, for working capital, supplier payments, bank instalments and budgetary 

obligations. 

 

Tangible assets 

The net book value of tangible fixed assets as at 31.12.2023 is 7,636 thousand lei, 2.92% below the 

level reported in the previous financial year, incorporating the effects of depreciation. 

 

 
Entry value 

31 December 
2022 

 
Entries 

 
Transfers 

Outputs 
31 December 

2023 

Land 628.001 - - 2.084 625.917 

Buildings 6.172.596 - - - 6.172.596 

Technical installations and 
machinery 

 
5.224.443 

 
234.397 

 
- 

 
119.493 

 
5.339.347 

Other plant, machinery and 
furniture 

 
1.370.279 

 
- 

 
- 

 
22.042 

 
1.363.627 

Tangible fixed assets in 
course of construction 

 
319.804 

 
116.556 

 
- 

 
- 

 
436.360 

Advances for tangible fixed 
assets 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

Total 13.715.123 366.343 - 143.619 13.937.847 

 

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the useful life of the fixed assets. The 

depreciation periods used are as follows: 

• Construction 8-40 years 

• Technical installations and machinery 2-28 years 

• Other plant, machinery and furniture 2-8 years 

 

 

ADISS ASSET 

MANAGEMENT  0.00 132.125,02 132.125,02 0.00 

TOTAL  134.134,50 154.485,02 169.818,56 141.282,04 
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Accumulated depreciation 
31 December 

2022 
Depreciation 

expense 

Cumulative 
depreciation on 

disposals 

31 December 
2023 

Buildings 1.268.567 194.681  1.463.248 

Technical installations and 
machinery 

 
3.798.754 

 
243.383 

 
119.192 

 
3.922.945 

Other plant, machinery and 
furniture 

 
782.018 

 
155.239 

 
22.041 

 
915.216 

Total 5.849.339 593.303 141.233 6.301.409 

Net book value 
 

7.865.784 
  

 
7.636.438 

 

 ADISS' production facilities are located at the company's headquarters in Tăuții Măgherăuș, str. 66, 

nr. 16, Maramureș county, on a total area of 3,200 sqm. Administrative and production activities are 

carried out in the Adiss Technological Complex, inaugurated in 2009, following a greenfield 

investment. The premises comprise offices, organised over 1,000 square metres, and a modern 

production hall covering 2,200 square metres, equipped with state-of-the-art machinery. 

The company has guaranteed the credit facilities contracted with mortgage and pledge on tangible 

assets in favour of CEC BANK SA Baia Mare. The situation of guarantees for bank loans is reflected 

in the Company's Explanatory Notes to the Statements of Loans Contracted. 

There are no issues relating to the ownership of the tangible assets of the issuer. 

 

Description and analysis of the degree of wear and tear of company property 

The average degree of wear and tear (depreciation) of the main assets of the Adiss property is shown 

in the following table: 

 

Structure 2022 2023 

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 5.849.339 6.301.409 

Tangible fixed assets 7.865.784 7.636.438 

Average wear rate (Amf/mf) 74,36% 82,5% 

 

Market of securities issued by ADISS 

The company's shares have been traded on the AeRO-SMT market of the Bucharest Stock Exchange 

under the symbol ADISS since 8 September 2021. The company ended the first trading session with 

a capitalization of 24.1 million lei, thus becoming a trailblazer for a new field on the stock exchange, 

on the trajectory of the global trend on sustainability and technology. 
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The decision to list on the Bucharest Stock Exchange completes the transition towards a market and 

product strategy through which ADISS aims, through proactive and sustainable responses, to 

strengthen its position on the wastewater treatment market in Romania and to create a brand 

awareness of trust and attractiveness for investors, strategic partners and consumers. 

On 31.12.2023, ADISS had the following shareholding structure: 

 

Shareholder Actions Percent 

CHRISTIAN RAT 12.889.455 75,9096 % 

Physical person 3.632.494 21,3928 % 

Legal persons 458.051 2,6976 % 

TOTAL 16.980.000 100 % 

 

Dividend policy 

The Company recognises the rights of shareholders to be remunerated in the form of dividends, as 

a form of participation in the net profits accumulated from operations, and as an expression of 

remuneration of the capital invested in the Company. In substantiating the proposal for the 

distribution of net profits realised during a financial year, the Board of Directors envisages a balanced 

distribution of net profits between the part due to shareholders in the form of dividends and the part 

retained at the disposal of the Company for investment, taking into account the Company's financing 

needs, its involvement in new projects and the expectations of investors. At the same time, the 

proposal of the Board of Directors regarding the distribution of dividends takes into account the 

capitalisation of the company and its financial situation. 

During the reporting period, the Company did not carry out any share buyback programmes or tender 

offers for its own shares. 

 

Affiliated companies 

 

COMPANY Nature of membership 

ADISS NOVA SRL Joint majority shareholder 

 EVO CAPITAL SRL Joint majority shareholder 

 VAN DER HANN SRL Joint majority shareholder 

CORNEL RAT Foundation ADISS SA shareholder 

 ADISS ASSET MANAGEMENT SA Joint majority shareholder 
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ADISS Management 

ADISS S.A. is organised as a joint-stock company managed on a unitary basis. It is managed by a 

Board of Directors consisting of 3 (three) members appointed by secret ballot by the AGOA for a 4 

(four) year term of office, which reports to the General Meeting of Shareholders and delegates 

executive management powers to the company's directors, one of whom is appointed General 

Manager.  

Board of Directors  

During the financial year 2023, the management of the company was ensured by the Board of 

Directors (BoD) consisting of: 

• Ms DANCOȘ ENIKO - President of the Board of Directors 

• Mr VĂLEAN CIPRIAN - Independent non-executive member  

• Mrs. INDRE MĂRIOARA - Non-executive member - financial expert. 

Mrs. Eniko Dancoș is a graduate of the Northern University of Baia Mare, Faculty of Engineering in 

the field of mechanical engineering, specializing in equipment for industrial processes. Since 2006 

Mrs. Eniko Dancoș joins the ADISS team using her professional experience in the field of engineering 

gained from working in an Australian company - Aurul S.A . With a vision that is in line with ADISS 

business profile and policy, Mrs. Dancoș takes over the responsibility of coordinating and organizing 

the whole activity of the company through the position of General Manager. Under her leadership, 

together with a specialised team ADISS becomes a national leader in its sector of activity, but also a 

responsible partner for the protection of the environment, in which water plays an essential role. Mrs. 

Eniko Dancos was appointed Chairman of the Board of Directors on 8 June 2021 for a 4-year term 

until 8 June 2025. Mrs. Eniko Dancos holds 29,294 shares issued by ADISS S.A. 

Mr. Ciprian Vălean is a lawyer, member of the Bucharest Bar Association since 2002, currently 

working in the law firm Dumitraș, Vălean and Associates in Baia Mare. Legal consultancy services 

and specific situations faced by a commercial company, legal assistance and representation of the 

company before the courts but also in relation to any other natural or legal person or public 

institutions regarding the conduct of commercial activities are only a part of his vast experience in 

services provided to companies on cases and disputes of commercial law, administrative and tax 

law, business law in general. Mr. Ciprian Vălean was appointed member of the Board of Directors on 

8 June 2021, for a 4-year term of office until 8 June 2025. Mr Ciprian Vălean does not hold any shares 

issued by ADISS S.A. 

Ms. Marie-Ange Indre is a chartered accountant, tax consultant and valuation expert. She has 

extensive experience in accounting, accounting and tax consultancy, statutory audit activities, 

financial consultancy, economic analysis, controlling, budgeting, accounting policies and procedures, 

internal control, accounting for non-reimbursable financing from government and European funds, 

preparation and certification of annual financial statements, auditing, external audit activities in 

teams of financial auditors. He is also lecturer in accounting courses and lecturer in tax seminars. 

Mrs. Marie-Ange Indre was appointed member of the Board of Directors on 8 June 2021 for a 4-year 

term of office until 8 June 2025. Ms. Mărioara Indre does not hold any shares issued by ADISS S.A. 
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In accordance with the principles of corporate governance agreed by the BVB, the Board of Directors 

informs interested persons that none of the directors has declared professional commitments in 

other companies during their term of office. The Company is not aware of the existence of any 

litigation or administrative proceedings against members of the Board of Directors or executive 

management in connection with their work in the Company or concerning the ability of such person 

to perform their duties in the Company.  

During the previous financial year, there was no evaluation of the Board of Directors under the 

leadership of its Chairman.  

During the financial year 2023, the Board of Directors met in a number of 4 meetings to analyse and 

discuss issues of major importance for the Company, diligently fulfilling all the acts necessary to 

achieve the Company's business purpose and responsibilities, assumed by the mandate contract. 

During 2023, a total of 6 internal auditor reviews were conducted. According to the opinion of the 

internal auditor, no significant deviations from the internal rules and procedures or the general legal 

framework for operation and reporting were identified. 

 

Executive management 

The Executive Management is appointed by the Board of Directors of the Company and is 

responsible for reporting to the Board of Directors on the work carried out between its regular 

meetings. The Executive Management of ADISS S.A. is empowered to direct and coordinate the day-

to-day activities of the Company and is ensured by: 

• Ms DANCOȘ ENIKO - General Manager ADISS, holding 29,294 ADISS shares. 

• Mr ERDELY CSABA - Commercial Director ADISS, holding 22,100 ADISS shares. 

• Mr CIPRIAN COASĂ - Technical Director ADISS. holding 4,500 ADISS shares 

Members of the executive management have powers and responsibilities according to the job 

description. All members of the Company's executive management are employed on a four-year 

contract.  

The persons who are members of the executive management or the Board of Directors of the 

Company have not been involved in any litigation or administrative proceedings in connection with 

their work at the issuer and have no agreement, arrangement or family relationship with any other 

decision maker in the Company.  
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Analysis of the financial position 2023 
 

The positioning of the developments in the financial position in the current economic context, 

constrained by multiple challenges, reflects the solidity of the ADISS business, after more than 30 

years of activity and a reputation synonymous with quality in the reference market. 

 

All amounts are in lei unless otherwise specified 31.12.2022 
(audited) 

31.12.2023 
(audited) 

Evolution 
(%) 

Total 
assets/liabilities 

ratio 
31.12.2023 

FIXED ASSETS 
    

NON-PORPORATIVE FIXED ASSETS, of which 4.266 2.234 -47,63% 0,003% 

Concessions, patents, licences, trademarks, similar 
rights and assets and other intangible assets  

4.266 2.234 -47,63% 0,003% 

FIXED ASSETS, of which: 7.865.784 7.636.438 -2,92% 9,962% 

Land and buildings 5.532.030 5335265 -3,56% 6,960% 

Technical installations and machinery 1.425.689 1416402 -0,65% 1,848% 

Other plant, machinery and furniture 588.261 448411 -23,77% 0,585% 

Tangible fixed assets in course of construction 319.804 436360 36,45% 0,569% 

FINANCIAL FIXED ASSETS, of which: 7.845.968 7.053.110 -10,11% 9,201% 

Shares held in subsidiaries 21.790 21.790 0,00% 0,028% 

Other loans 7.824.178 7.031.320 -10,13% 9,172% 

FIXED ASSETS - TOTAL 15.716.018 14.691.782 -6,52% 19,166% 

STOCKS, of which: 41.449.321 41.063.409 -0,93% 53,568% 

Raw materials and consumables 3.085.561 3.952.789 28,11% 5,156% 

Production in progress 24.354.845 24.616.921 1,08% 32,113% 

Finished products and goods 12.597.698 11.840.840 -6,01% 15,447% 

Advances 1.411.217 652.859 -53,74% 0,852% 

RECEIVABLES, of which: 19.373.405 20.013.718 3,31% 26,108% 

Trade receivables 19.017.233 19.501.563 2,55% 25,440% 

Amounts receivable from affiliated entities 80.120 80.120 0,00% 0,105% 

Other claims 276.052 432.035 56,50% 0,564% 

HOME AND BANK ACCOUNTS 997.802 540.286 -45,85% 0,705% 

CURRENT ASSETS - TOTAL 61.820.528 61.617.413 -0,33% 80,381% 

PREPAID EXPENSES 357.322 347.399 -2,78% 0,453% 

TOTAL ACTIV 77.893.868 76.656.594 -1,59% 100,000% 

SHORT-TERM DEBTS, of which: 44.745.648 41.752.958 -6,69% 54,468% 

Amounts due to credit institutions 21.080.115 22.842.763 8,36% 29,799% 

Advances received on orders 36.675 33.415 -8,89% 0,044% 

Trade debts - suppliers 15.948.267 14.150.159 -11,27% 18,459% 

Other debts, including tax and social security debts 7.680.591 4.726.621 -38,46% 6,166% 

LONG-TERM DEBT, of which: 6.167.574 7.831.935 26,99% 10,217% 
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Amounts due to credit institutions 2.953.666 3.357.439 13,67% 4,380% 

Amounts due to associates and jointly controlled 
entities 

2.282.000 2.282.000 0,00% 2,977% 

Other debts, including tax and social security debts 931.908 2.192.496 135,27% 2,860% 

TOTAL DEBTS 50.913.222 49.584.893 -2,61% 64,684% 

Paid-up subscribed capital 8.490.000 8.490.000 0,00% 11,075% 

Capital Premium 4.240.000 4.240.000 0,00% 5,531% 

Revaluation reserves 458.702 458.702 0,00% 0,598% 

Reserves, of which: 6.996.081 7.005.994 0,14% 9,139% 

Legal reserves 431.525 441.438 2,30% 0,576% 

Other reserves 6.564.556 6.564.556 0,00% 8,564% 

Retained earnings 6.218.782 6.795.862 9,28% 8,865% 

Profit for the financial year 616.731 91.056 -85,24% 0,119% 

Profit sharing 39.650 9.913 -75,00% 0,013% 

EQUITY - TOTAL 26.980.646 27.071.701 0,34% 35,316% 

 

In the ADISS S.A. asset class, current assets predominate, with a share of 80.38% at the end of the 

reporting period, 31.12.2023. The decrease in their value compared to the beginning of the financial 

year is marginal (-0.33%) and subordinate to the decrease in stocks (-0.93%), which account for 

53.56% of the Company's assets. 

At 31.12.2023, inventories remain the main category of current assets (66.64%), in close correlation 

with the business model based on contracting projects with a long implementation cycle. Work in 

progress stocks represent 60% of the total value of inventories, while finished goods contribute 

28.84% and stocks of raw materials and materials 9.63%. The positioning of the total value of stocks 

slightly below the level reported in the previous year is justified by the reduction of advances for 

stocks by 53.74%, together with a 6% decrease in stocks of finished products and goods, in line with 

the change of strategy to optimise production from stock by efficiently linking the own production 

process to the stage of implementation of subcontractors' projects. 

In contrast to the evolution of turnover in the reporting period (-11.72%), the 3.31% increase in 

receivables in the reporting period, which was 97.4% due to the evolution of trade receivables, 

indicates a slight slowdown in the turnover of receivables, but justified by the context of the timing 

of payments on the PNDL and Angel Saligny public funding programmes. Compared to 2022, when 

in the period September-December 2022, payments made on these two programmes totalled 2,500 

billion, in the same period of 2023, only 10% of this amount was paid. 

The scale of the projects undertaken, especially those undertaken in the General Contracting 

segment, with varying execution deadlines, between 4 and 36 months, depending on their complexity, 

requires a significant allocation of resources, justifying the change in cash and cash equivalents from 

one period to the next (-45.85%). The hierarchy of current assets places cash and cash equivalents 

in a lower position (0.88%) in the class structure as at 31.12.2023. In order to cover the risk arising 

from long collection periods, the company uses instruments which make cash flows more 

predictable, such as factoring and discounting of payment instruments. 

As at 31.12.2023, the value of fixed assets, as a proportion of 19.2% of the company's total assets, 

remains relatively constant compared to the beginning of the year, the 6.52% contraction being the 

effect of the depreciation of tangible fixed assets together with the reduction of financial fixed assets 

by 10.13%. During the reporting period, the company disposed of and scrapped assets such as 
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technological equipment and office equipment in the amount of 143 thousand lei, while the 

investment in this category of assets amounted to 258 thousand lei. At the same time, the value of 

investments in progress at the ADISS premises increased by 116 thousand lei. 

Financial fixed assets decreased by 10.11% compared to the same period last year. In accordance 

with the specific nature of ADISS activity, they include fixed receivables in the amount of 7.05 million 

lei, in the form of guarantees that large-scale projects require up to 10% of the value of contracts, as 

well as the collateral cash deposit in the amount of 2.35 million lei set up in 2022 for the replacement 

of guarantees and the cancellation of mortgages on assets taken as collateral for bank loans 

contracted.  

Subsuming the same evolution of fixed and current assets, the company's assets record a marginal 

negative variation of 1.59%, reaching the threshold of 76.6 million lei. 

Characterised by relatively long execution cycles of projects carried out on the basis of contracts 

involving extended payment terms both to its customers and suppliers, the company's activity is 

financed mainly by debts to third parties and in particular by payment obligations due within one 

year.  

As at 31.12.2023, the total amount of debt covered 64.68% of the company's assets, while short-

term debt, accounting for 84.2% of the total amount of external sources of financing, contributed 

54.46% to the financing of the company's assets.  

At the end of 2023, current liabilities decreased by 6.69%, i.e. by 2.99 million lei compared to the same 

period of the previous year, on the back of a decrease in trade debts by 11.27% and in other debts, 

including tax debts by 38.46%. 

On the other hand, payment obligations to banks (short-term bank loans and overdue instalments on 

long-term loans), amounting to RON 22.84 million as at 31.12.2023, increased by 8.36% during the 

reporting period, as a result of access to short-term working capital in the form of treasury loans. 

Structurally, bank debts account for 54.71% of total short-term debts, debts to suppliers account for 

33.9%, while other debts, including tax debts, account for 11.32%, including debts related to 

performance guarantees due in less than one year and liabilities to the state budget - mostly subject 

to the payment instalment facility. 

Long-term debts increased by 27% in the reporting period mainly due to the taking out of an SME 

Invest loan. 

In the amount of RON 7.83 million as at 31.12.2023, debts due beyond 1 year include 42.87% of bank 

loans contracted, but also other similar debts, consisting of tax debts, performance guarantees to 

suppliers or leasing (28%). The contracting in 2022 of a long-term loan from ADISS Asset 

Management Srl, affiliated party, is reflected in the balance sheet subsection "amounts due to 

associated entities". 

As at 31.12.2023, the change in the equity value reflects the negative dynamics of the result for the 

period partially offset by the increase in the retained earnings through the capitalisation of 2022 

results. As at 31.12.2023, equity capital provides 35.31% of the financing of ADISS S.A.'s assets. 

 



water and engineering ADISS.ro 

36 
 

Financial performance review 2023 

  

All amounts are in lei unless otherwise specified 

31.12.2022 
(audited) 

31.12.2023 
(audited) 

Evolution  
(%) 

Share in 
the 

relevant 
structure 

Net turnover 43.201.003 38.136.708 -11,72% 101,14% 

Production sold 43.140.284 38.133.745 -11,60% 101,13% 

Income from sale of goods 60.719 2.963 -95,12% 0,01% 

Income related to the cost of work in progress     

Sold C 3.274.860 0   

Sold D 0 486.937   

Income from the production of intangible and 
tangible fixed assets 

29.000  -100% 0,00% 

Income from operating subsidies 15.750  -100% 0,00% 

Other operating income 73.610 57.655 -21,67% 0,15% 

OPERATING INCOME - TOTAL 46.594.223 37.707.426 -19,07% 100,00% 

Expenditure on raw materials and consumables 16.186.156 16.646.118 2,84% 46,95% 

Other material expenditure 134.120 112.259 -16,30% 0,32% 

Expenditure on utilities 160.947 147.483 -8,36% 0,42% 

Expenditure on goods 49.871 9.273 -81,40% 0,03% 

Staff expenditure 5.553.433 5.514.851 -0,69% 15,55% 

Value adjustments on tangible and intangible assets 680.243 604.271 -11,16% 1,70% 

Operating expenditure on depreciation of fixed assets 680.243 604.271 -11,16% 1,70% 

Value adjustments on current assets  135.980  0,38% 

Other operating expenditure 21.715.425 12.287.305 -43,42% 34,65% 

Expenditure on external benefits 20.899.341 11.287.696 -45.99% 31,83% 

Expenditure on royalties, management fees and 
rents 

142.385 268.610 88.65% 0,76% 

Expenditure on other taxes, duties and similar 
charges; expenditure on transfers and 
contributions payable under special legal acts 

203.685 230.365 13.10% 0,65% 

Other expenses 470.014 500.634 6,51% 1,41% 

OPERATING EXPENDITURE - TOTAL 44.480.195 35.457.540 -20,28% 100,00% 

OPERATING PROFIT: 2.114.028 2.249.886 6,42%  

Interest income 215 1.055 390,69%  

Other financial income 65.418 20.424 -68,77%  

FINANCIAL INCOME - TOTAL 65.633 21.479 -67,27%  

Interest expenditure 1.305.556 1.824.212 39,72%  

Other financial charges 81.098 248.901 206,91%  

FINANCIAL EXPENDITURE - TOTAL 1.386.654 2.073.113 49,50%  

FINANCIAL LOSS -1.321.021 -2.051.634 55.31%  

TOTAL REVENUE 46.659.856 37.728.905 -19,14%  

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 45.866.849 37.530.653 -18,17% 
 

GROSS PROFIT: 793.007 198.252 -75,00% 
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Corporate income tax 176.276 107.196 -39,19% 
 

PROFIT FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR 616.731 91.056 -85,24% 
 

 

As of 31.12.2023, the company records a turnover of 38.13 million Lei, 11.72% below the level of the 

same period of the previous year. 

The evolution of the company's turnover is closely correlated with the stage of development of the 

works or stages of the projects contracted by Adiss S.A. The 11.72% decrease in turnover during the 

reporting period is explained by the fact that some contracts could not be carried out due to delays 

recorded by the builders in the civil works, which led to a delay in the delivery of Adiss equipment to 

the construction sites. The pace of work by contractors was slowed down by the lack of public funds 

to pay for the work carried out. 

ADISS management's pro-active approaches aim to increase tender presence through strategic use 

of its own resources, strengthen relationships with existing clients and expand strong partnerships 

to ensure the company's success in the marketplace. 

The income related to the costs of production in progress, which transpose the variation of stocks 

compared to the beginning of the reference period, records a negative value of 486 thousand lei as 

of 31.12.2023, while as of 31.12.2022 the company records a positive value of 3.27 million lei. This 

dynamic basically reflects the successful commercial valorisation of stocks of finished products 

realised in the second part of 2022, concomitant with a lower intensity of production on stock in 

2023, which is also projected at the level of raw materials and materials expenses.  

The category other operating income of 57 thousand lei, quantifies 86.7% of income from the sale of 

assets and other capital operations. 

The decrease in turnover as at 31.12.2023 compared to the same period of the previous year, 

together with a similar decrease in revenues related to production costs in progress, has resulted in 

total operating revenues being 19% below the 2022 threshold. 

Operating expenses decreased in proportion to the decrease in operating income and recorded 35.45 

million lei, down 20.28% compared to the same period last year. The evolution of operating expenses 

is mostly due to the decrease in expenses for external services provided by third parties (-50.93%), 

following the completion of the works related to the contract concluded with R.A.J.A. Constanta.  

As a share of 76% of "other operating expenses" as at 31.12.2023, the evolution of expenses for 

services performed by third parties during 2021-2023 mainly reflected contractual relations with 

subcontractors who provided civil works for the R.A.J.A. contract. Constanta. 

Compared to 2023, the significant amount of this category of expenditure in 2022, amounting to 

18.97 million lei, essentially reflects the technical scope of the project, but also the intensity of the 

related works, which culminated in 2022, when the most important stages of the project were 

completed. At the same time, this category of expenditure also subsumes the countervalue of 

various external services to maintain current activity, such as production collaborations, security 

services and IT services.  

ADISS' marketing policy, oriented towards the valorisation of products designed and developed in-

house, justifies the significant proportion of raw materials and materials expenses in the total 

expenses inherent to the operational activity (46.95%). Compared to the end of the previous year, this 

category of expenses is maintained at a relatively constant value (+2.84%), under the strategy of 

optimising costs and production from stock through an efficient correlation of the own production 

process with the implementation stage of subcontractors' projects.    
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The level of staff costs, with a contribution of 15.55% to total operating expenditure, decreases by 

0.7% in 2023 compared to 2022, in line with the dynamics of the staff structure. The average number 

of employees decreases by 10.29% in 2023. 

With the success of the final acceptance of the largest General Contracting project carried out by 

ADISS, but also with the signing of new contracts, the result of the operating activity generates a 

positive result as of 31.12.2023, i.e. an operating profit of 2.24 million lei, an increase of 6.42% 

compared to the same period of the previous year. 

On the other hand, financial activity remains affected by the increase in interest expenses, mainly 

generated by the ROBOR evolution, which is taken into account in the calculation of interest rates for 

loans contracted by the company. The 49.5% increase in financial expenses during 2023 leads to a 

negative result of the financial activity, i.e. a loss of RON 2.05 million as at 31.12.2023. 

Although the efforts directed towards the operational efficiency of the current activity keep the 

operating result in a positive and ascending note, the deepening of the loss in the financial activity 

leads to the reduction of the net result of the company by 85.24% as of 31.12.2023, up to the amount 

of 91 thousand lei. 

For the current year, ADISS management remains focused on developing strategic partnerships that 

will boost revenues and correct profitability indicators as soon as possible. 
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Cash Flow Statement 

 

 

Item name 
 

31.12.2022 
 

31.12.2023 

 

 

1. Cash flows from operating activities: 

  

1.1 Collections from customers 45.391.914 45.546.968 

1.2 Payments to suppliers and employees (44.028.717) (-40.673.362) 

1.3 Taxes, VAT (3.678.691) (4.697.602) 

Net cash from operating activities (2.315.494) 176.004 

2. Cash flows from investing activities: 
  

2.1 Proceeds from disposal of 

financial fixed assets and short-

term financial investments 

0 0 

2.2 Payments for the acquisition of 

tangible fixed assets 

(101.875) (157.945) 

2.3 Proceeds from the sale of 

tangible fixed assets 

0 0 

2.4 Interest received on cash 215 1.055 

2.5 Dividends received 0 0 

2.6 Interest paid on long-term loans (222.516) (378.618) 

Net cash from investing 

activities 

(324.176) (535.508) 

3. Cash flows from financing activities: 
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3.1 Payments made for loans to 

related parties 

(1.356.343) (2.415.770) 

3.2 Repayment of loans to related 

parties 

3.516.229 1.703.177 

3.3 Receipts from short-term and 

long-term loans 

6.953.038 8.677.332 

3.4 Interest received on loans granted 

to related parties 

0 0 

3.5 Repayment of short-term and long-

term credit 

(4.870.440) (-6.548.990) 

3.6 Silver debts related to 

the finance lease 

(115.895) (68.166) 

3.7 Dividends paid 

 

3.8 Interest paid without long-term 

credit 

(-) 
 
 
 
(1.083.040) 

(-) 
 
 
 

(1.445.595) 

3.8 Receipt of government subsidies 
0 0 

3.9 Proceeds from placement 

underwriting 

0 0 

Net cash from financing activities 
3.043.549 (-98.012) 

4. Net increase in cash and cash 

equivalents 

  

5. Cash and cash equivalents at the 

beginning of the financial year 

593.923 997.802 

6. Cash and cash equivalents at

 financial year-end 

997.802 540.286 
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Statement on Corporate Governance 

Code Requirements to be met 
Fully 

respect 

Partially 

complies/ 

Does not 

respect 

Reason for non-

compliance 

Section A. Responsibilities of the Board of Directors 

A1 

The issuer has an internal Board Charter which includes 

terms of reference relating to the Board and key 

management functions of the company. Conflict of 

interest management at Board level is also dealt with in 

the Board's rules of procedure. 

√   

A2 

Any other professional commitments of Board 

members, including executive or non-executive Board 

membership in other companies (excluding subsidiaries 

of the company) and non-profit institutions, shall be 

disclosed to the Board prior to appointment and during 

the term of office. 

√   

A3 

Each member of the Board shall inform the Board of 

any relationship with a shareholder who directly or 

indirectly holds shares representing not less than 5% of 

the total number of voting rights. This obligation covers 

any relationship that may affect the position of the 

member concerned on matters relating to decisions of 

the Board. 

√   

A4 

The annual report shall inform whether an evaluation of 

the Council has taken place, under the leadership of the 

President, which shall also include the number of 

meetings of the Council. 

√   

A5 

The procedure for cooperation with the Authorised 

Consultant for the period during which such 

cooperation is applicable shall contain at least the 

following: 

√  

The issuer has 

signed a 

contract for the 

provision of 

Authorised 

Consultant 

services, post-

listing, for a 

period of 12 

months. 

A5.1 Contact person for the Authorised Consultant; √   

A5.2 

Frequency of meetings with the Authorised Consultant, 

which will be at least once a month and whenever new 

events or information involve the submission of current 

or periodic reports so that the Authorised Consultant 

can be consulted. 

√   

A5.3 

The obligation to provide the Authorised Consultant 

with all relevant information and any information 

reasonably requested by the Authorised Consultant or 

required by the Authorised Consultant to fulfil its 

responsibilities; 

√   

A5.4 
The obligation to inform the Bucharest Stock Exchange 

of any malfunctioning in the cooperation with the 
√   
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Authorized Consultant, or change of Authorized 

Consultant. 

Section B. Internal Control System 

B1 

The Board shall adopt a policy such that any transaction 

of the Company with a subsidiary representing 5% or 

more of the net assets of the Company, as of the most 

recent financial report, shall be approved by the Board. 

√   

B2 

Internal audit is carried out by a separate organisational 

structure (internal audit department) within the 

company or through the services of an independent 

third party, which reports to the Board and, within the 

company, will report directly to the CEO. 

√   

Section C. Fair rewards and motivation 

C1 

The Company publishes in its annual report a section 

that includes the total income of the Board members 

and the CEO for the financial year in question and the 

total amount of any bonuses or any variable 

compensation and also the key assumptions and 

principles for calculating the aforementioned income. 

 
Does not 

respect 

   

Section D. Building value through investor relations 

D1 

The Issuer's website contains a section dedicated to 

Investor Relations, both in Romanian and English, with 

all relevant information of interest to investors, 

including: 

√  

The issuer 

ensures the 

availability of 

information in 

Romanian 

D1.1 

The main regulations of the Issuer, in particular the 

Articles of Incorporation and the internal regulations of 

the statutory bodies 

 
Does not 

respect 

Under 

implementation 

D1.2 CVs of the Board members and executives  
Does not 

respect 

Under 

implementation 

D1.3 Current reports and periodic reports √   

D1.4 

Information on general meetings of shareholders: 

agenda and related materials; resolutions of general 

meetings 

√   

D1.5 

Information on corporate events, such as dividend 

payments or other events that result in the acquisition 

of or limitations on a shareholder's rights, including 

deadlines and principles of such transactions. 

√   

D1.6 

Other information of an extraordinary nature that is 

made public: cancellation/amendment/initiation of 

cooperation with an Authorised Consultant; 

signing/renewal/termination of an agreement with a 

Market Maker. 

√  

If applicable, this 

information will 

be published by 

the Issuer on its 

website as well 

as in a current 

report to the 

BVB. 

D1.7 

The Company has an Investor Relations function and 

includes in the Investor Relations section of the 

Company's website the name and contact details of a 

person who is able to provide appropriate information 

on request. 

√   
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D2 

The issuer has adopted a company dividend policy, as a 

set of guidelines for the distribution of net profit, which 

it follows. The principles of the dividend policy are 

published on its website. 

 
Partially 

complies 

The principles of 

the dividend 

policy are not 

published on the 

website. 

D3 

The issuer has an adopted policy on forecasts and 

whether or not they are provided. Forecasts are the 

quantified conclusions of studies aimed at determining 

the total impact of a list of factors relating to a future 

period (so-called assumptions). The policy states the 

frequency, the period considered and the content of the 

forecasts. Forecasts, if published, are part of annual, 

half-yearly or quarterly reports. The forecast policy is 

published on the Issuer's website. 

 

Partially 

complies 

The forecast 

policy is not 

published on the 

website. 

D4 

The issuer shall fix the date and place of a general 

meeting in such a way as to enable as many 

shareholders as possible to attend. 

√   

D5 

Financial reports include information in both English 

and Romanian on the main factors influencing changes 

in sales, operating profit, net profit or any other relevant 

financial indicator. 

√  

 

D6 

The issuer holds at least one meeting/conference call 

with analysts and investors each year. The information 

presented on these occasions is published in the 

Investor Relations section of the Issuer's website at the 

time of the respective meeting/conference call. 

 
Does not 

respect 

Under 

implementation 
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Management statement 

 

I, the undersigned Eniko Dancoș, in my capacity as Chairman of the Board of Directors of ADISS S.A. 

and on its behalf, hereby declare that, to the best of my knowledge, the annual financial statements 

of ADISS S.A., presented for the reporting date 31.12.2023, prepared in accordance with the 

applicable accounting standards, reflect a true and fair view of the company's assets, liabilities, 

financial position, income and expenses, and the annual report as of 30.04.2024 contains a fair 

analysis of the issuer's development and performance, as well as a description of the main risks and 

uncertainties specific to the business. 

 

 

 

Tăuții Măgheruș, 30.04.2024 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD 

of ADISS S.A, 

 

DANCOS ENIKO 

 

____________________ 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
2023
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1. Fixed assets

Non-current assets comprise assets intended to be used on a continuing basis in 
accordance with the going concern principle, i.e. an activity without accidental interruption, 
without the danger of liquidation or significant reduction in activity.

The change in gross value, depreciation and the value of net book fixed assets at 31 December 
2023 is shown as follows:

1.1 Intangible assets
Lei

Entry value 31 December
2022

Entries Transfers 31 December
2023

Other intangible assets 688.444 8.937 697.381

Lei

Accumulated 
depreciation

31 December
2022

Depreciatio
n expense

Cumulative 
depreciation 

on exits 31 December
2023

Other intangible assets 684.178 10.969 695.147

Net book value 4.266 2.234

Intangible assets are stated at cost less depreciation. The useful lives used in the 
calculation of amortisation of intangible assets range from 1 month to 5 years. The 
depreciation method used is the straight-line method. The balance is mainly made up of 
computer software, software, licences.

1.2 Tangible fixed assets

Lei

Entry value
31 December

2022 Entries Transfers Outputs
31 December

2023

Land 628.001 - - 2.084 625.917

Buildings 6.172.596 - - - 6.172.596

Technical installations 
and machines 5.224.443 234.397 - 119.493 5.339.347

Other plant, machinery 
and furniture 1.370.279 - - 22.042 1.363.627

Tangible fixed 
assets in progress 319.804 116.556 - - 436.360

Advances for 
tangible fixed 
assets - - - - -

Total 13.715.123 366.343 - 143.619 13.937.847
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Law

Accumulated 
depreciation

31 December
2022

Spending on 
depreciation

Cumulative 
depreciation on 
exits

31 December
2023

Buildings 1.268.567 194.681 1.463.248

Technical installations 
and machines 3.798.754 243.383 119.192 3.922.945

Other plant, machinery 
and furniture 782.018 155.239 22.041 915.216

Total 5.849.339 593.303 141.233 6.301.409

Net book 
value 7.865.784 7.636.438

In the financial statements presented, the value of fixed assets is shown at their entry 
value or revalued amount. Buildings and land are shown at revalued amount as at 31 December 
2014.

The useful lives used to calculate the depreciation of tangible fixed assets are established 
according to GD 1496/2008 amending the annex to GD 2139/30.11.2004, for the 
approval of the Catalogue on the classification and normal working lives of fixed assets. 
The depreciation method used is the straight-line method. The tables show fixed assets, 
consisting of intangible fixed assets, tangible fixed assets and financial fixed assets, the 
composition of balances and movements during 2023.

Revaluation of fixed assets

The revaluation of land and buildings is usually done every 3 years, but in December 
2018, the company's management considered whether a revaluation was necessary, 
considering that during 2018 the older land and buildings on Miners Street were sold 
and we were left with the land and buildings in Tautii Magheraus, which were built 
and handed over in 2010, were subdivided and refurbished in order to rent these 
buildings.

After the reception of all modifications and improvements to these buildings, an 
evaluation will be made.

The last revaluation was made by SC NEOCONSULT VALUTION SRL, member of 
ANEVAR, on 31.12.2020, when it was chosen as a way of reflecting in the accounting the 
presentation of tangible fixed assets of buildings and special constructions at fair value.

Amortization related to revaluation differences is treated as non-deductible for tax 
purposes, and the revaluation differences were transferred to account 1175 "Retained 
earnings representing the realized surplus from revaluation reserves", which replaces 
account 1065, according to OMFP 1802/2014.

The situation of tangible fixed assets valued and depreciation are presented in note 

1.2.

Divestment and marriage

According to the amendments to OMFP 1802/2014, the gains or losses obtained from 
the disposal of tangible fixed assets are presented in the balance sheet as the difference 
between the income generated by the disposal and their undepreciated value. 
Presentation



4

in the Balance Sheet is made as net value, income or expenses as the case may be, in the Profit and 
Loss Account, under the item "Other operating income" respectively, "Other operating 
expenses", as the case may be.

Pledged and restricted tangible fixed assets

The company has guaranteed for the credit facilities contracted with mortgage and 
pledge on tangible assets in favour of CEC BANK SA Baia Mare.

The situation of guarantees for bank loans is reflected in the notes to the Statements of 
loans contracted.

Property, plant and equipment used under leases in which the Company is
tenant

Tangible fixed assets include, under finance leases, means of transport as 
follows:

Law 31 December 2022 31 December 2023

Cost of leased real estate 357.800 380.637

Accumulated depreciation 309.073 246.151

1.3 Financial fixed assets

1.3.1. Shares held in affiliated entities

The main shareholder of the company RAT CRISTIAN is a shareholder of the company ADISS 
NOVA SRL with 90% shares, the company EVO CAPITAL SRL with 100% shares, with 19% 
in the company SPA METISE SRL, the company VAN DER HANN SRL with 50% and the 
company ADISS ASETT MANAGEMENT SA with 99%.

Since 12.04.2013, ADISS SA is a founding member of the Cornel Rat Foundation. Since 
08.04.2013, ADISS SA holds a contribution to the share capital of Cornel Rat Foundation in 
the amount of 21.790 lei.

Entry value 31 December
2022 Entries Transfers Outputs

31 December
2023

Financial fixed 
assets 7.845.968 - 792.858 7.053.110
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1.3.2. Participation interests - Not applicable
1.3.3. Other non-current assets

According to the provisions of OMFP 1802, entities that have fixed assets with a 
maturity of more than one year in the fixed assets account, shall present in the balance 
sheet, under financial fixed assets, only the part with a maturity of more than 12 months, the 
difference being reflected under receivables.

Thus, following the provisions of OMFP 1802/2014, as at 31.12.2023, performance 
guarantees have been reclassified and presented in the Balance Sheet, as follows:

- other financial fixed assets (performance guarantees) - 7,053,110 lei;

2. Provisions

Provisions to cover the risk of non-recovery of receivables from customers

OMFP No 1.802/2014 stipulates that the amounts relating to doubtful debts must be shown 
separately in the accounts. To this end, account 4118 'Doubtful or disputed customers' is 
used to record doubtful, bad, doubtful or disputed customers separately from other customers. 
Impairment adjustments for trade receivables are recognised when the inventory value (at the 
inventory of assets and liabilities) is lower than the book value (at invoicing).

The account 491 "Adjustments for impairment of receivables - trade receivables" is used to 
keep track of the adjustments for impairment of receivables on trade receivables. The 
balance of this account represents the impairment adjustments made.

As at 31.12.2023 the balance of provisions is 136,657.90 lei. This balance of trade 
receivables also includes old and disputed receivables, and a procedure for adjusting 
the balance of doubtful receivables is to be established, so that they are presented at 
their probable recoverable value.

3. Profit sharing

According to OMF 1802/2014 the net profit of the year 2023 in the amount of 91.055,50 
lei will be distributed for the constitution of legal reserves in the amount of 
9.913,00 , the difference of 81.142,50 lei will be distributed during the year 2024, 
according to the AGOA resolution of 29.04.2024.

The net profit for the years 2016, 2017, 2018, 2019, 2020, 2021 and 2022, amounting to
572.068,94 lei, 631.765,52 lei , 337.885,14 lei, 398.763,27 lei , 657.501,22 lei, 787.915,03 lei
and 577,080.70 lei remained unallocated to account 1171, total remaining unallocated 
in the amount of 3,962,980.02 lei.

During 2023 no dividends were raised .

4. Analysis of operating result

Law

No.
rd.

Indicator 31 December
2022

31 December
2023

1 Net turnover 43.201.003 38.136.708

2 Cost of goods sold and services rendered (3+4+5) 36.616.846 26.821.294
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3 Core activity expenditure 35.882.070 26.279.157

4 Expenditure on ancillary activities 217.565 57.616

5 Indirect production costs 517.211 484.522

6 Gross result on net turnover (1-2) 6.584.157 11.315.414

7 Expenditure on provisions and adjustments for impairment of 
assets

0 0

8 Income on provisions and impairment adjustments for assets 0 0

9 Disposal costs 956.098 828.378

10 General administrative expenses 6.907.251 7.807.868

11 Other operating income 3.393.220 -429.282

Operating result (6-7+8-9-10+11) 2.114.028 2.249.886

The operating activity ended with a profit of 2.249.886 lei

In the context of the situation caused by the pandemic, geopolitical tensions, threats of 
inflation and exchange rate volatility, as well as national bottlenecks caused by rising 
commodity and electricity prices, many contracts have been delayed or even stopped in 
execution and no new start orders have been issued. As a result of imbalances in 
global supply chains, the supply of parts and equipment requirements and the timely 
fulfilment of orders are subject to delays in delivery and assembly. The start of work on some 
contracts has been postponed, while for some of the contracts already in progress, the pace of 
execution has been affected.

5. Debts and debts situation

5.1 Creator

Law Liquidity term

Creator 31 December 2023 under 1 year over 1 year

Commercial creditor 19.501.563 18.002.074 1.499.489

Amounts receivable from affiliated 
entities

80.120 - 80.120

Other claims 432.035 432.035 -

Total 20.013.718 18.434.109 1.579.609

5.2 Debts

Law Due date

Debts 31 December 2023 under 1 year over 1 year

Amounts due to credit 
institutions 26.200.202 22.842.763 3.357.439
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Advances received under 
contracts 33.415 33.415 -

Debt budgets 1.536.081 1.536.081 -

Trade debts 14.150.159 14.150.159

Other debts 7.665.036 3.190.540 4.474.496

Total 49.584.893 41.752.958 7.831.935

5.2.1. Amounts due to credit institutions

Since 23.04.2018, loan refinancing contracts were signed with CEC Bank SA Baia Mare 
from Unicredit Bank SA, respectively:

- credit agreement no. 1009 of 23.04.2018 - credit facility in the amount of
8.150.000 lei for the ceiling of issuing bank letters of participation in the auction, of 
good execution, of advance refund, of good payment - with issuing commission 0.25% per 
quarter or fraction of quarter, minimum 400 lei, and the interest rate is the basic 
interest rate + margin, respectively Robor 3M + M. The maturity of the credit is 
01.02.2024. On 31.07.2019 a new addendum is signed reducing the amount of the loan 
from the amount of
8,150,000 lei to 6,300,000 lei. On 5.02.2021 this facility is transformed into another type 
of credit, namely a muticredit contract consisting of the following:

1. Credit for financing the current activity in the amount of 2.585.400 lei with 
maturity on 01.02.2024, with a grace period of 12 months;

2. Ceiling of letters of guarantee and bank counter-guarantee amounting 
to 3.458.669,11 lei;

3. Ceiling for issuing letters of credit amounting to 50.000 euro.
The structure of the guarantees is also modified according to the splitting 
project, no. 55/16.01.2020 ADISS ASETT MANAGEMENT SA enters into the credit 
contracts as a Real Guarantor and as a Joint Co-Borrower. On 22.04.2021, the land plot of 
9.745 sq.m. on cadastral no. 59891, No. of levels: 1; built area on the ground: 225 sq.m.; 
research centre on cadastral no. 59891-C1, registered in CF no. 59891 Tautii-Magheraus, 
cadastral no. 59891, 59891-C1, property of Adiss Asset Management SA and land 
plot of 3.745 sq.m. on cadastral no. 59891, 59891-C1, are removed from the guarantee 
structure.324 sqm on cadastral number 59892, registered in CF nr 59892 Tautii-
Magheraus, cadastral number 59892, property of Adiss Asset Management SA. On 
1.02.2022 the land + buildings registered in CF nr 59166-C1-U3 Tautii-Magheraus, 
cadastral number 59166-C1- U3, property of Adiss Asset Management SA is 
removed from the guarantee structure.
In 2023 the new amount of the credit facility is 5.971.295,68 lei, with non-revolving 
character. In September, the restructuring of the loan is approved, by rescheduling 
the instalments to be paid in December 2023, January and February 2024, the due date 
being 01.02.2024.

- credit agreement no. 1010 of 23.04.2018 - credit facility in the amount of
500.000 euro for issuing bank letters of participation in the auction, of good execution, of 
advance refund, of payment guarantee - with issuing commission 0.25% per quarter or 
fraction of quarter, minimum 100 eur, and the interest rate is the basic 
interest rate + margin, i.e. Euribor 3M + M. The maturity of the loan is 
20.04.2025. According to the additional act no. 1 dated 10.05.2018 the amount of the 
credit facility decreases from
On 31.07.2019, a new addendum is signed reducing the amount of the loan from 100.000 euro to 
20.000 euro. On 5.05.2020, the facility is extended until 21.04.2023 and the structure 
of the guarantees is changed according to the splitting project no. 55/16.01.2020, the 
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company ADISS ASETT MANAGEMENT SA enters into the loan agreements as a Real Guarantor 
and as a Joint Co-Borrower.
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- conditional credit line facility agreement no. RQ18044746931981 of 23.04.2018 - credit 
line for financing the current activity in the amount of 10.536.000 lei - interest rate 
is basic interest rate + margin, i.e. Robor 3M + M. On 22.04.2020 the duration 
of the contract is extended until 21.04.2021. On 2.02.2021 the structure of the 
guarantees changes according to the splitting project no. 55/16.01.2020, the 
company ADISS ASETT MANAGEMENT SA enters into the credit contracts as a Real 
Guarantor and as a Joint Co-Borrower. On 21.04.2021 the facility is extended until 
20.04.2022. On 1.02.2022, the land + buildings registered CF no. 59166-C1-U3 Tautii-
Magheraus, cadastral no. 59166-C1-U3, property of Adiss Asset Management SA, 
is removed from the guarantee structure and a movable guarantee is introduced on 
the collateral deposit in the amount of 2,350,000 lei. On 19.04.2022 the maturity 
is extended for a period of 30 days, until 19.05.2022. On 27.05.2022 the maturity 
date is set for 18.04.2023. by the additional deed signed in September, for the period 
September 2023-April 2024 the monthly payment amount is set at 100.000 lei per 
month.

- conditional credit line facility agreement no. RQ18044746931997 of 23.04.2018 - 
credit line for financing current activities in the amount of 500.000 euro
- the interest rate is the basic interest rate + margin, i.e. Euribor 3M + M. 
According to the additional act no. 1 dated 23.04.2018 the amount of the credit 
facility is increased from
500.000 euro to 900.000 euro. On 2.02.2021 the structure of the guarantees changes 
according to the splitting project no. 55/16.01.2020, the company ADISS ASETT 
MANAGEMENT SA enters into the credit agreements as a Real Guarantor and Joint and Several Co-
Borrower. On 21.04.2021, the facility is extended until 20.04.2022. On 19.04.2022, it is 
extended for a period of 30 days until 19.05.2022. On 27.05.2022 the extension of the 
credit facility is approved until 18.04.2023.On 10.06.2022 the increase of the 
credit line by 500.000 euro is approved, the new amount being 1.400.000 euro.

- credit contract for financing the current activity of IMM INVEST no. RQ21065118123663 
dated 28.06.2021 - in the amount of 2.500.000 lei, repayment term 
06.06.2024. The interest rate is subsidized 100% from the budget of the 
Ministry of Public Finance. The grant period for the interest payment is 8 months from 
the date of the loan. The interest rate is ROBOR 3M+2.5 p.p.
In September 2023 the rescheduling of the instalment due from June to December 2023 
is approved.

- credit agreement for financing current activities (non-revolving) no. RQ22065118178208 
dated 10.06.2022 - in the amount of 404.000 euro, repayment term 36 months, 
grace period of 12 months, maturity date 09.06.2025. The applicable interest rate is 
EURIBOR 3M+2.75 p.p.

- credit contract for financing the current activity of IMM INVEST PLUS no. 
RQ22125118211016 dated 04.04.2023 - in the amount of 4.900.000 lei, repayment 
term 05.03.2026. The interest rate is 100% subsidized by the budget of the 
Ministry of Public Finance. The grant period for the interest payment is 12 months from 
the date of the loan. The interest rate is ROBOR 3M+1.5 p.p.
In September 2023 the rescheduling of the instalment due from July to December 2023 is 
approved.

- working capital treasury credit agreement no. RQ23090409036748 dated 18.09.2023 in the 
amount of 379.561 lei with Rocredit IFN SA maturing on 09.05.2024, type of bill of 
exchange - tax invoice. The interest rate on the discount credit is 14% per annum, 
revisable, monthly administration fee of 0.75%, guarantees: 2 promissory notes in blank, 
movable mortgage on the universality of goods and claims, assignment of claim on the 
discounted invoice. The remaining amount to be repaid is 220,561 lei.

- working capital treasury credit agreement no. RQ23120064036879 dated 06.12.2023 in the 
amount of 286,349 lei with Rocredit IFN SA with maturity on 29.03.2024, type of 
commercial paper - tax invoice. The interest rate on the discount credit is 14% per annum, 
revisable, monthly management fee of 0.75%, collateral: 2 notes at
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Blank order, movable hypothec, universality of goods and receivables, assignment of the 
discounted invoice.

- working capital treasury credit agreement no. RQ23120409036927 dated 28.12.2023 in the 
amount of 420.198 lei with Rocredit IFN SA with maturity on 19.04.2024, type of 
commercial paper - tax invoice. The interest rate on the discount credit is 14% per annum, 
revisable, monthly administration fee of 0.75%, guarantees: 2 promissory notes in blank, 
movable mortgage on all goods and claims, assignment of claim on the discounted invoice.

Guarantees for credit facilities - for ADISS SA and ADISS ASSET MANAGEMENT SA:

- Subsequent real estate collateral on the real estate consisting of intravilan 
land in the area of 4.028 sq.m., registered in the Land Register of Tautii - 
Magheraus under no. 59165 with CAD: 59165 owned by ADISS S.A., sale-purchase 
contract act no. 4560/2007, right of ownership with purchase title, acquired by Convention, 
current share 1/1, located in Tautii Magheraus, str. 66, no. 16, county. Maramures,
- Subsequent real estate collateral on the building consisting of GROUND FLOOR: 
Multipurpose room = 200,08 sq.m., Kitchen = 5,29 sq.m., Bathroom = 2,24 sq.m., WC = 
1,66 sq.m., Secretariat = 17,16 sq.m., IT Office = 7,01 
sq.m.,Office=6,32m.p.,Office=9,80m.p.,Multipurpose 
room=79,65m.p.,Office=9,63m.p.,Office=10,39m.p.,WC=1,57m.p.,WC=1,60m.p.,Office=5,4 
7m.p.,Multipurpose room=98,77m.p.,Multipurpose room=26,40m.p.,Cloakroom=10,75m
.p.,Hol=4,66m.p.,WC=1,25m.p.,WC=1,06m.p.,WC=1,02m.p.,Vestiar=51,03m.p.,Hala.prod 
uctie=2.297,68m.p.,ETAJ:Hol=48,01m.p.,Birou=29,10m.p.,Birou=17,52m.p.,Office=17,52s
q.m.,Meeting room=26,28sq.m.,Office=147,96sq.m.,Lobby=18,79sq.m.,Office=10,34sq.m.,Copy 
office=6,43sq.m.,Bedroom=1,38sq.m.,Bathroom=3,11sq.m.,WC=1,28sq.m.,WC=1,04sq.m.,WC=
1,1 4 m .p.,WC=1,15m.p.,Bathroom=3,07m.p.,Office=20,58m.p.,Bathroom=2,83m.p.,Kitchen
=3,00m.p.,Office=14,79m.p., in a total built area of 3.409m.p., in total useful 
surface of 3.225,81 sq.m., with common parts share of 322581/840465 and related 
land share of 332190/865500, registered in the Land Register no.59166-C1-U1 of 
the locality Tautii- Magheraus nr.crt.A1 with CAD:59166-C1-U1 property of ADISS SA, 
sale-purchase contract act nr. 4560/2007, certificate of attestation of construction 
nr. 3211/03.08.2010 issued by Tautii Magheraus Town Hall (building permit nr. 
54/12.05.2008 issued by Tautii Magheraus Town Hall, report of reception at the end of 
the works no. 29/11.06.2010) property right, with title of purchase and construction, 
acquired by Convention and Construction, current share 1/1, located in Tautii 
Magheraus, str. 66, no. 16, Maramures county,
- Subsequent real estate collateral on the building building consisting of GROUND 
FLOOR: production hall = 1756 sq.m., in built area of 1725 sq.m., 94 sq.m. useful 
area of 1725.94 sq.m., with a common share of 172594/840465 and the related land 
share 177735/865500, registered in the Land Register with no.59166-C1-U4 of Tautii - 
Magheraus, no.crt.A1 with CAD:59166-C1-U4 property of ADISS ASSET MANAGEMENT S.A., 
Articles of Incorporation authenticated under no. 2960/08.07.2020 by NP Rakoczi 
Ferencz Robert, AGM Resolution no. 126 authenticated under no. 2956/08.07.2020 by 
NP Rakoczi Ferencz Robert, registration certificate series B, no. 4127710/26.08.2020 
issued by ORCT of the Maramures Court, AGM Resolution no. 1/27.08.2020 
authenticated under no. 3950/27.08.2020, civil sentence no. 879/24.07.2020 in 
file no. 1148/100/2020 Tribunal Maramures, by title of right of division, acquired 
by Law, in the current 1/1 share, and act of dismemberment 1864 of 23.03.2022, 
located in Tautii Magheraus, str. 66, no. 16, Maramures county.
- Subsequent real estate collateral on the building building consisting of GROUND 
FLOOR: production hall = 1734 sq.m., with a built area of 1713,54 sq.m. useful area of 
1734 sq.m., with a common share of 171354/840465 and the related land share of 
176458/865500 registered in the Land Register with no.59166-C1-U5 of the locality 
Tautii - Magheraus, no.crt.A1 with CAD:59166-C1-U5 owned by ADISS ASSET MANAGEMENT 
S.A., constitutive act authenticated under no. 2960/08.07.2020 by NP Rakoczi 
Ferencz Robert, AGM Resolution no. 126 authenticated under no. 2956/08.07.2020 by NP 
Rakoczi Ferencz Robert, registration certificate series B, no. 
4127710/26.08.2020 issued by ORCT of Maramures Court, AGM Resolution no. 
1/27.08.2020 authenticated under no. 3950/27.08.2020, civil sentence no.
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879/24.07.2020 in file no. 1148/100/2020 Tribunal Maramures, by title of right of 
division, acquired by Law, in the current 1/1 share, and act of dismemberment 
1864 of 23.03.2022, located in Tautii Magheraus, str. 66, no. 16, Maramures county
- Subsequent real estate collateral on the building consisting of partially enclosed land 
in area of 1981 sq.m. and the construction of the thermal power plant in 
built surface of 303.m., registered in the Land Book with no. 61963 of Tautii - 
Magheraus, crt.  A1, CAD number:61963- nr.crt. A1.1 with CAD :61963-C1 owned by 
ADISS ASSET MANAGEMENT S.A., Articles of Incorporation authenticated under no. 
2960/08.07.2020 by NP Rakoczi Ferencz Robert, AGM Resolution no. 126 
authenticated under no. 2956/08.07.2020 by NP Rakoczi Ferencz Robert, registration 
certificate series B, no. 4127710/26.08.2020 issued by ORCT of Maramures Court, AGM 
Resolution no. 1/27.08.2020 authenticated under nr. 3950/27.08.2020, civil 
sentence nr. 879/24.07.2020 in file nr. 1148/100/2020 Maramures Tribunal, with 
title of division right, acquired by Law, in the current 1/1 share, and dismemberment 
act 18660 of 23.03.2022 located in Tautii Magheraus, str. 66, nr. 16, Maramures 
county.

- Subsequent real estate collateral on the building consisting of partially 
enclosed land with an area of 1233 sq.m., registered in the Land Register with no. 61962 
of Tautii - Magheraus, crt. A1, CAD number:61962- property of ADISS ASSET MANAGEMENT 
S.A., constitutive act authenticated under no. 2960/08.07.2020 by NP Rakoczi 
Ferencz Robert, AGM Resolution no. 126 authenticated under no. 2956/08.07.2020 by 
NP Rakoczi Ferencz Robert, registration certificate series B, no. 4127710/26.08.2020 
issued by ORCT of Maramures Court, AGM Resolution no. 1/27.08.2020 authenticated 
under no. 3950/27.08.2020, civil sentence no. 879/24.07.2020 in file no. 
1148/100/2020 Maramures Tribunal, by title of right of division, acquired by Law, 
in the current 1/1 share, and dismemberment act 18660 of 23.03.2022 located in Tautii 
Magheraus, str. 66, no. 16, Maramures county.
- Subsequent real estate collateral on the building consisting of partially enclosed land 
with an area of 1034 sq.m., registered in the Land Register with no. 61964 of Tautii - 
Magheraus, crt. A1, CAD number:61964, property of ADISS ASSET MANAGEMENT S.A., 
constitutive act authenticated under no. 2960/08.07.2020 by NP Rakoczi Ferencz 
Robert, AGM Resolution no. 126 authenticated under no. 2956/08.07.2020 by NP 
Rakoczi Ferencz Robert, registration certificate series B, no. 
4127710/26.08.2020 issued by ORCT of Maramures Court, AGM Resolution no. 
1/27.08.2020 authenticated under no. 3950/27.08.2020, civil sentence no. 
879/24.07.2020 in file no. 1148/100/2020 Maramures Tribunal, by title of right of 
division, acquired by Law, in the current 1/1 share, and dismemberment act 18660 of 
23.03.2022 located in Tautii Magheraus, str. 66, no. 16, Maramures county.

- Movable mortgage on Adiss SA's current accounts opened with CEC Bank SA;
- Movable mortgage on the current accounts of Adiss Asset Management SA opened 
with CEC Bank SA;

- Movable hypothec on receivables resulting from commercial contracts concluded with 
partners, detailed in the Annex "List of ongoing contracts";

- Movable mortgage on the stock of raw materials, materials, semi-finished and finished 
products located in the company's warehouses in Tautii Magheraus, 66 street no 16, Maramures 
county, property of Adiss SA,

- movable mortgage on deposit account no. RO37CECEB000K9RON2062696 in the amount 
of 2.350.000 lei of ADISS SA

According to the resolution of the AGM no. 4/19.03.2021 it is requested to remove from 
the guarantee the intravilan land in the area of 9.745 sq.m and the ground construction of 
225 sq.m representing the Research Center registered in the CF no. 59891 Tautii Magheraus 
and the intravilan land in the area of 3.324 sq.m registered in the CF no. 
59892 Tautii Magheraus. On 21.04.2021, it is approved the withdrawal of the above 
mentioned guarantees. On 1.02.2022, the land + buildings registered in CF nr 59166-
C1-U3 Tautii- Magheraus, cadastral nr 59166-C1-U3, property of Adiss Asset 
Management SA, is removed from the guarantee structure.
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5.2.2 Leasing liabilities.

As at 31 December 2023 the Company has entered into leasing contracts for motor vehicles. 
The leases are entered into for a period of between 1 and 5 years, the maturities of which 
are shown below:

Present value of lease obligations 31 December 2023

Under one year 32.212

Between 1 and 5 years 151.043

Total 195.325

The amount of outstanding interest as at 31.12.2023 on leasing contracts is 9,812.08 
lei, of which 3,600.52 lei due within 1 year and 6,211.56 lei due beyond 1 year.

The balance of account 167 - Other loans and similar debts as at 31.12.2023 
amounts to RON 2,442,573.17 and is composed of RON 2,247,248.05 in performance 
guarantees from suppliers and RON 195,325.12 in debts on ongoing leasing contracts.
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Leasing contracts at 31.12.2023

Leasing capital situation

Crt. 
no.

Symbol 
cont

Contract 
no.

Acquisition 
date

Date of 
maturity

Name Entry 
value

Remaining 
value

Maturity 
less than 1 
year

Maturity 
over 1 year

1 167,52 212795 25.06.2020 30.06.2024 Dacia Dokker 
Laureate 58.082,40 7.228,69 7.228,69 -

2 167,53 212796 25.06.2020 30.06.2024 Dacia Logan MCV 38.900,51 4.841,59 4.841,59 -

3 167,54 154274 14.12.2023 31.12.2028 Sanngyong Rexton 216.275,03 183.254,84 32.212,25 151.042,59

4

TOTAL 195.325,12 44.282,53 151.042,59



14

Leasing interest rate situation

Crt 
No

Contract 
no.

Acquisitio
n date

Date of 
maturity

Name Interest 
rate

Interes
t rate

Maturity 
less than 1 

year

Maturity 
over 1 year

Lei Lei Lei Law

1 212795 25.06.2020 30.06.2024 Dacia Dokker Laureate 6.086,16 155.69 155.69 -

2 212796 25.06.2020 30.06.2024 Dacia Logan MCV 4.075,96 104.05 104.05 -

3 154274 14.12.2023 31.12.2028 Sanngyong Rexton 9.552,34 9.552,34 3.340,78 6.211,56

4

TOTAL 19.714,46 9.812,08 3.600,52 6.211,56
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5.2.3. Other long-term liabilities amounting to 4,474,496 lei, comprising :

- performance guarantees withheld from suppliers in the amount of 925,441 lei;
- debts on leasing contracts from the situation presented in the amount of 151,043 lei;
- debts to the state budget amounting to 1,050,421 lei;
- amounts due to associated entities in the amount of 2,282,000 lei;
- amounts due to shareholders in the amount of 65,591 lei

5.2.4 Debts related to performance guarantees withheld from suppliers of works

As of 31.12.2023 we have debts in the total amount of 2.247.248,05 lei to suppliers of works, 
representing guarantees of good execution withheld, of which the amount to be paid in 2024 
is 1.321.807,41 lei.

6 Accounting principles, policies and methods

6.1 Accounting principles

The financial statements for the year 2023 have been prepared in accordance with the 
following accounting principles:

Principle of continuity of activity
These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which assumes that the 
Company has carried on its business for the full 12 months of 2023 and that the Company 
will continue in business for the foreseeable future.

Principle of permanence of methods
The same rules, methods and standards have been applied to the valuation, recording 
and accounting presentation of assets and liabilities, thus ensuring the 
comparability of accounting information over time.

Prudence principle
Account has been taken of all value adjustments due to depreciation in value of fixed assets, as 
well as losses arising during the financial year just ended, i.e. losses and gains found on raw 
materials during the general inventory of assets. No adjustments have been made to assets, as an 
analysis has been carried out on stocks of finished and unfinished products and it has been 
concluded that they can be valued at stock value. As regards raw materials, the company's 
management concluded that they can be recovered either by consumption in future projects or 
by offering them on the market and decided that no adjustment of stocks is necessary, as they 
are kept in the packaging they were purchased in and have not undergone any changes or 
deterioration. At each general inventory of assets, if there were damaged assets, they 
were removed from stock by scrapping. The management decided that an internal 
procedure would be made to analyse the deterioration of the assets and adjust them, 
when necessary, according to OMFP 1802/2014.

Principle of independence of exercise.
During the year 2023, income and expenses invoiced in the financial year 2023 were recorded. 
In account 418 "Clients invoices to be drawn up", the amount of 3,580,624.77 lei was 
recorded, representing amounts to be invoiced for contracts in progress and resulting 
from works executed in the period July-December 2023.

The principle of separate valuation of assets and liabilities
In order to determine the total value corresponding to a balance sheet item, the value of each 
individual asset or liability was determined separately.
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Principle of intangibility of the exercise
The opening balance sheet for the financial year corresponds to the closing balance sheet 
for the previous financial year.

The principle of non-compensation
The values of items representing assets have not been offset against the values of items 
representing liabilities, i.e. income has not been offset against expenses, except for 
the offsets between assets and liabilities allowed by the Order of the Ministry of Public 
Finance 1802/2014.

Accrual accounting principle.

The effects of transactions and other events are recognised when the transactions and 
events occur (rather than as cash or cash equivalents are received or paid) and are 
recorded in the accounts and reported in the financial statements of the related periods.

The principle of separate valuation of assets and liabilities. The components of 

assets and liabilities shall be measured separately. The principle of 

measurement at acquisition cost or production cost.

Items presented in the financial statements are usually valued on the basis of the purchase or 
production cost principle. The cases where purchase cost or production cost is not used 
are those provided for in these regulations

The significance threshold principle
Any item with a value considered significant is presented separately within the financial 
statements.

6.2 Accounting policies and methods

a)Basics of preparing financial statements
The financial statements as at 31.12.2023 are the responsibility of the company's management 
and have been prepared in accordance with the Accounting Law no. 82/1991 as amended and in 
accordance with the Ministry of Public Finance Order 1802/2014.
The financial statements include:
▪ Bilant
▪ Profit and loss account
▪ Informative date
▪ Fixed assets situation
▪ Statement of equity
▪ Cash flow situation
▪ Notes to the annual financial statements
The financial statements for the year 2023 are prepared in accordance with OMF 
1802/2014 and Order no. 5394/2023. The accounting entries on the basis of which 
these financial statements have been prepared are made in lei or RON based on the 
historical cost principle, except for tangible fixed assets (see note 6 d).

b)Currency conversions
The Company's transactions in foreign currency are recorded at the exchange rates 
communicated by the National Bank of Romania ("NBR") for the date of the transactions. 
Earnings
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and losses arising from the settlement of transactions in a foreign currency are recognised 
in the profit and loss account within the financial result.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency at the balance sheet 
date are converted into RON using the exchange rates, BNR rate, valid at the end of the year. The 
exchange rate used for the conversion of balances expressed in EURO as at 
31.12.2023 is 1 EURO = 4,9746 lei.

c) Tangible fixed assets and depreciation
Tangible fixed assets are stated at their value less depreciation, with the exception 
of Land and Buildings which are stated at revalued value, which is usually done every 
3 years. Following a review, management has determined that fair value valuation is not 
warranted, remaining at the revalued amounts as at 31.12.2014

Depreciation

Fixed assets are depreciated from the month following the date of acquisition or the 
date of commissioning, as appropriate, using the fiscal lives of the fixed assets.
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line depreciation method over the useful 
life of the fixed assets.

The depreciation periods used are as follows:
◼ Construction 8-40 years
◼ Technical installations and machines 2-28 years
◼ Other plant, machinery and furniture 2-8 
years Land and fixed assets in progress are not depreciated.
Depreciation for differences on the revaluation of buildings is recorded as an expense, with 
depreciation not deductible for tax purposes.

Subsequent expenditure, maintenance and repairs

Expenditure on the repair or maintenance of fixed assets incurred to restore or maintain the 
value of these assets is recognised in the income statement at the date it is incurred. 
Improvements that significantly increase the useful life of the assets, production 
capacity or technical performance are capitalised.

d) Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired by the Company are stated at cost. The majority of the 
intangible fixed assets recorded by the Company are software. These are depreciated on a 
straight-line basis over a period of between 1 month and 5 years.
Depreciation is recorded on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of 
the intangible assets.

e) Impairment of assets
Value adjustments comprise all adjustments to take account of reductions in the values 
of individual assets established at the balance sheet date, whether or not that reduction is 
definitive.
Value adjustments can be: permanent adjustments, hereinafter referred to as 
depreciation, and/or provisional adjustments, hereinafter referred to as impairment or loss 
of value adjustments, depending on whether the asset adjustment is permanent or 
provisional.
At the end of the financial year, assets and liabilities in the nature of liabilities are valued 
and reflected in the annual financial statements at the entry value, in accordance with the 
results of the inventory. Where impairment losses are identified for financial 
fixed assets, adjustments for impairment must be made so that they are valued at the lower 
of their value at the balance sheet date.

f) Financial leasing
Leases in which the Company substantially assumes the risks and rewards of ownership are 
classified as finance leases. Finance leases are
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capitalised at the estimated present value of payments. Each payment is split between the 
principal and interest element, according to the schedules attached to the finance 
leases. Amounts due are included in short-term or long-term debt. The interest element is 
charged to the profit and loss account over the term of the contract. Assets held under 
finance leases are capitalised and depreciated over their useful lives.

The situation of finance leases as at 31.12.2023 is presented in note 5.2.2.

g)Operational leasing
Operational leasing is leasing that does not fall under the category of finance leasing. 
Lease payments under operating leases are recognised as an expense in the income 
statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
The company has no operational ballasting contracts.

h)Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term deposits.

The cash position as at 31.12.2023 is presented in note 10.4.

i) Trade receivables
Trade receivables arise from sales of goods, works and services. Receivables are 
reflected at their initial recording date at their nominal value (referred to as the entry 
value). Receivables and payables in foreign currency are reflected in the accounts both in 
lei at
the exchange rate prevailing on the date of the transactions and in foreign currency.

According to the accounting regulations in force, when inventory work is carried out, 
if there is a high probability of non-recovery of an outstanding receivable, it is 
classified as doubtful and, at the same time, an allowance for doubtful 
debts is recorded as a result of the risk of non-recovery of the receivable in 
question.
The Company will make an adjustment to bad and doubtful debts so that they are shown in 
the balance sheet at the probable recoverable amount.

j) Stocks
Raw materials and materials inventories are recorded at historical cost, without making value 
adjustments, as they have not deteriorated and can be valued at their stock value.
In-process production: the cost of direct materials and labour, plus attributable 
indirect and overhead costs, related to the stage of the product
Finished goods: the cost of direct materials and labour, plus attributable indirect and 
overheads, at actual cost.
No provisions have been made for obsolete, slow-moving or defective stocks.

k) Commercial obligations
Trade payables are recorded at cost, which represents the fair value of the obligation 
to be paid in the future for goods and services received.

l) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the company has a present obligation (legal or 
constructive) as a result of a past event for which it is probable that an 
outflow of resources or a diminution of receivables will be required to settle the 
obligation or recover the receivable, if a good estimate of the amount of the 
obligation can be made.
The situation of provisions in 2023 was presented in point 2.

m) Financial instruments
The financial instruments used by the company consist of cash, term deposits, 
receivables and payables. The purpose of financial investments is to hold funds at the 
disposal of the enterprise for a purpose that is not immediate in nature compared with 
the time of receipt of the funds.
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n)Pensions
Within the framework of its current activity, the company makes payments to the Romanian state 
for the benefit of its employees, for social insurance. All employees of the company are included 
in the regulated social insurance system.
The Company does not operate any other post-retirement benefit scheme or plan.

o) Income
Revenue from the sale of goods is generated when the risks and rewards of ownership of the goods 
are transferred to the buyer, which generally coincides with the delivery of the goods.

The income from the services provided is established at the time the service is rendered, 
based on a report of receipt of the works, according to the service contracts between the company 
and the beneficiaries of the services. Amounts representing revenue do not include VAT and 
discounts. Interest income is recognised monthly.

p)Taxes and duties
Corporate income tax is calculated by applying the rate of 16% on the taxable fiscal 
profit and is recorded in the account of debts to the state budget. The income tax 
calculated and due for the financial year ending 2023 is shown in note 10.6.

q)Continuity of activity
These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which means that the 
company will continue to operate for the foreseeable future. In order to assess the 
applicability of this assumption, management has analysed forecasts of future cash 
inflows. On the basis of this analysis, management believes that the Company will be able to 
continue in business for the foreseeable future and therefore the application of the going 
concern basis in the preparation of the financial statements is justified.
The company operates on a going concern basis. It has had no interruptions of activity 
since its establishment and currently has signed commercial contracts that have a 
period of performance even until 2025.

r) Group accounting
The Company has not prepared consolidated financial statements as at the date of preparation and 
approval of these financial statements. In view of the insignificant weight of holdings and 
relationships with affiliated persons, in order to present a true and fair view of the 
balance sheet and profit and loss account, consolidation is not necessary and is not justified, 
and this acceptance is permitted by the legislation in force.

s) Subsidiaries and equity securities
Subsidiaries are those entities in which the Company holds, directly or indirectly, more 
than half of the voting rights or has the power to decide their financial or operating 
policies. Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at historical cost as equity investments 
held in group companies.

Securities in the form of participating interests are securities held in entities in which 
the Company has a significant interest, and are accounted for at historical cost as 
investments held in group companies. Significant interest is determined by whether the 
Company directly or indirectly holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.
The situation of holdings of securities in affiliated entities is presented in note 10.2.

t) Accounting policy for derivatives
Derivatives are financial instruments whose return is based on the return provided by 
another financial instrument or commodity, called the underlying asset. Their return is 
therefore derived from the price performance of an instrument, commodity or other 
asset.
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The company does not use derivatives.

7 . Shares and bonds

Share capital

In 2021 there were changes in the share capital structure

The subscribed and paid-up share capital was 1,710,000 lei, divided into 17,100 shares with 
a nominal value of 100 lei each, held by the two shareholders. The number of shares 
held by the two shareholders changed as follows: the main shareholder held 16,929 shares in 2019 
compared to 17,095 shares in 2018 and the second shareholder held 171 shares in 2019 compared 
to 5 shares in 2018.

On 1.09.2020 the share capital is reduced by the amount of 340.000,00 lei according to the 
draft of division no. 55/16.01.2020, the court sentence no. 879/24.07.2020 and the 
protocol of handing over and receiving signed between the parties so that the share 
capital is 1.370.000 lei.

On 4.06.2021 the share capital is increased by the amount of 5.000.000 lei by 
incorporation of reserves and on 17.06.2021 it is increased by the amount of 2.120.000 
lei by subscription of new shares.

On 31 December 2023, the shareholding structure is as follows:

Sum

Shareholder % of capital Number of shares (Law)

Individual shareholders of which: 100 16.980.000 8.490.000

Rat Cristian 75.03 12.740.000 6.370.000

List of other shareholders 
with 154 shareholders 24.97 4.240.000 2.120.000

Total 100 16.980.000 8.490.000

The Company's equity is:

(Law) 31 December 2022 31 December 2023

Subscribed paid-in share capital 8.490.000 8.490.000

Capital premium 4.240.000 4.240.000

Revaluation reserves 458.702 458.702

Legal reserves 431.525 441.438

Reserves representing revaluation surplus
3.073.889 3.073.889

Other reserves 6.564.556 6.564.556

Retained earnings - retained earnings and accounting 
errors 3.144.893 3.721.973

Profit sharing -39.650 -9.913

Profit / (loss) 616.731 91.056
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Total 26.980.646 27.071.701

8 . Information on employees, administrators and directors

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had a total of 56 employees, of which 51 
employees are on employment contracts and 5 employees are on mandate contracts, with 
the following structure:

Number of employees

Categories 31 December 2022 31 December 2023 %

Production + service 32 25 48%

Administrative 32 31 52%

Total 64 56 100%

From 2021 onwards, the management of the company will be carried out through a unitary 
system, based on two management and administration structures: the Board of Directors 
and the Executive Management. The Board of Directors is composed of 3 members, who are 
nominated and validated by the General Meeting of Shareholders for a period of 4 years, 
with the possibility of re-election:

Eniko Dancoș- Chairman of the Board of Directors and CEO Ciprian Vălean - 
Non-executive member, independent- lawyer
Mărioara Indre - Non-executive member - financial expert

The term of office of the present Board of Directors will end on 8 June 2025.
On 31 December 2023 I am a member of the Board of Directors of the company:

Name and surname Function

Dancos Eniko Director General

Erdely Csaba Commercial Director

Coasa Ciprian Vasile Technical Director

The company has recorded the following salary expenses during 2023:

Law 2023

Expenditure on staff salaries 5.366.847

Labour insurance contribution 118.698

Other expenditure on social security and social protection 29.306

Total 
5,514,851
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The company has not granted advances and loans to employees, members of the Management Board 
or members of the Board of Directors.

9 . Economic and financial indicators
Law 31 December 2022 31 December 2023

1
Liquidity indicators - in number 
of times

Current liquidity indicator

Current assets (A) 61.820.528 61.617.413

Short-term liabilities (B) 44.745.648 41.752.958

A/B-in number of times 1.38 1.48

Immediate liquidity indicator 
(acid test)

Current assets (A) 61.820.528 61.617.413

Stocks (B) 41.449.321 41.063.409

Short-term liabilities (C) 44.745.648 41.752.958

(A-B)/C-in number of times 0.46 0.49

2 Risk indicators

Indebtedness ratio indicator

Borrowed capital (A) 6.167.574 7.831.935

Equity capital (B) 26.980.646 27.071.701

A/B 0.23 0.29

Interest cover indicator

Profit before interest and 
corporate income tax (A) 2.098.563 2.022.464

Interest-related expenditure (B) 1.305.556 1.824.212

A/B - in number of times (if 
negative, not calculated) 1.61 1.11

3
Activity indicators - in number 
of days

Flow rate - customers

Average customer balance (A) 12.800.655 12.650.948

Net turnover (B) 43.201.003 38.136.708
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(A/B)*365-in number of days 108 days 121 days

Credit turnover speed -
suppliers

Average balance suppliers (A) 14.826.459 15.049.213

Net turnover (B) 43.201.003 38.136.708

(A/B)*365 - in number of days 125 days 144 days

Turnover speed of fixed assets

Net turnover (A) 43.201.003 38.136.708

Fixed assets (B) 15.716.018 14.691.782

(A/B) - in number of times 2.75 2.60

Turnover speed of total assets

Net turnover (A) 43.201.003 38.136.708

Total assets (B) 77.893.868 76.656.594

(A/B) - in number of times 0.55 0.50

Cost of sales (A) 44.480.195 35.457.540

Average stock (B) 38.657.876 40.224.327

(A/B) - in number of times 1.15 0.88

4 Profitability indicators

Gross margin on sales

Gross profit from sales (A) 2.114.028 2.249.886

Net turnover (B) 43.201.003 38.136.708

(A/B)*100 4.89 5.90

9.1. Liquidity indicators

Overall liquidity is considered satisfactory for values between 1.2 and 1.9 and reflects the 
ability of current assets to turn into cash in a short time to pay current liabilities. As can 
be seen from the table above the value of the overall liquidity indicator in 2023 is 1.48, 
registering an increase of 7% compared to 2022.

Intermediate liquidity is satisfactory for values between 0.65 and 1. The literature 
considers an intermediate liquidity ratio greater than or equal to 1 to be good. This 
indicator reflects the ability of current assets, in the form of receivables and cash, to 
cover current liabilities and is determined by dividing current assets minus inventories by 
short-term liabilities. Intermediate liquidity in 2023 is 0.49, significantly higher 
than in 2022.
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9.2. Risk indicators

The degree of indebtedness of the equity capital expresses how many times the 
borrowed capital (loans for a period longer than one year) is included in the equity 
capital and reflects the financing structure of the company at the end of the financial year 
and to what extent the activity of the company is supported by bank loans. In general, a 
debt ratio of less than 60% is within normal limits and reflects a long-term balance between 
internal and external sources of finance. In 2023 the risk indicator is 29% compared to 
23% in 2022.

The interest cover indicator reflects how many times interest expenses can be covered from gross 
profit before interest and tax. The lower the value of the indicator, the riskier the 
company's position. The value of the indicator has decreased compared to the 
previous year, given the large fluctuations in interest rates due to the excessive 
increase in the ROBOR index in 2023.

9.3. Activity (management) indicators

The debtor-customer turnover rate expresses the number of days until the date when 
debtors pay their debts to the company and thus shows the effectiveness of the company in 
collecting its debts. Compared to the previous year, there has been an increase in the time 
taken to collect debts from debtors due to the fact that payment delays from the Ministry of 
Development, Public Works and Administration - MDLPA are increasing and collections from 
local public authorities are more delayed than in previous years.

The supplier credit turnover rate expresses the number of days of credit the company 
obtains from its suppliers. Compared to last year, the number of days until which the company has 
paid its debts to suppliers has increased, given that there were delays in collections from 
budget customers.

Turnover rate of fixed assets assesses the efficiency of fixed asset management by 
examining the value of turnover generated by operating fixed assets. This indicator is 
lower than last year due to the decrease in turnover.

Total asset turnover rate assesses the efficiency of total asset management by 
examining the value of turnover generated by the company's assets. Compared to last year, there has 
been a decrease in the efficiency with which the company uses its assets, due to the decrease in 
turnover and assets.

9.4. Profitability indicators - express the efficiency of the Company in making profit from the 
available resources. Increased from last year, although turnover decreased, but gross 
profit increased.

EBITDA as of 31.12.2023 is 2.854.157 lei compared to 2.794.271 lei in 2022, in 2023 it 
registered an increase of 2.14 % compared to 2022.

10. Other information

10.1 Company presentation

ADISS S.A., with registered office in loc. Tautii Magheraus str. 66 nr. 16, jud 
Maramures, is a joint-stock company with legal personality, being registered at the Trade 
Register under nr. J24/310/1993, Fiscal Code RO 3359107, and is administered in a 
unitary system.
The company operates in accordance with Romanian law.

The main activity of ADISS is: 2829 - Manufacture of other general-purpose machinery.
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Considering that since 2018 the main activity carried out by Adiss is related to 
CAEN codes 4221, 2511, 7112 as a general contractor, since 01.07.2019 the 
company benefits from the facilities of GEO 114/2018.

The company provides high quality technological services and solutions in the field of
environment.

The company's products are delivered to the domestic market.

On the domestic market the main customers in 2023 were: Apa Nova Bucuresti SA; Raja SA 
Constanta; Aquaproiect SA; Dimex 2000 Company, Sedga Construct SRL, 
Termolang SRL, Test Prima SRL, Porr Construct SRL.

The main domestic suppliers are: Envirotronic SRL; Diodor Import Export SRL; Italinox 
Romania SRL; Direct Line Inox SRL; Grundfos Pompe SRL, Kriskon SRL , 
Geomarco Construct SRL , Pet Communications SRL, Taffo SRL , Hach Lange Srl , Bifa 
Automatizari etc, and among the external suppliers: Hans Huber A.S. - Germany; NSW 
Seekabelwerke Gmbh; Supratec Gmbh; Umex Gmbh, Italprogetti Engineering SPA.

By the Resolution of the Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders of ADISS SA no. 116 
of 22.11.2019 the following is decided:

1. Initiation of the preliminary formalities for the PARTIAL DIVISION OF ADISS SA 
- process following which a part of the company's assets is to be transferred to a 
newly established entity, by the method of demerger in the interest of the 
shareholders (art. 250 ind. 1 letter B Law 31/1990).

2. The procedure was carried out in accordance with the law, in compliance with 
the provisions set forth in the Dividing Project, the drafting, signing and 
submission of which to ORCT Maramures empowers the General Manager of the 
company - in his capacity as Chairman of the Board of Directors..

3. Pursuant to the provisions of Article 242 paragraph (2^1) of Law 31/1990, it was 
decided to make the publicity through the company's website, for a continuous period 
of at least one month before the date on which, in the second stage of the division 
process, it is expected to convene an extraordinary meeting of the 
shareholders called to decide on its finalization.

According to the split-up project, part of the assets of Adiss SA is allocated to a new 
entity - ADISS ASSET MANAGEMENT SA - eco-business/industrial parks and other real 
estate investments, a company that will carry out activities in the real estate rental segment.

According to the civil judgment no. 879/24.07.2020, the registration in the 
Commercial Register of the partial division of ADISS SA in favour of ADISS ASSET 
MANAGEMENT SA to be established is ordered. in September 2020, it is also 
registered in the accounts, based on the handing over-receipt protocol signed between the 
parties.

In June 2021, by resolution of the AGEA no. 145 / 27.05.2021, ADISS S.A. increased the 
share capital by issuing 4,240,000 new shares of nominal value 0.5 lei each, of the 
same class and with the same characteristics as the previously existing shares. These 
were offered in a private placement at a price of 1.5 lei/share, of which 1 leu 
represented the issue premium, the total amount of funds
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attracted being 6,360,000 lei. Following the increase, the share capital of ADISS S.A. is
8,490,000 lei, divided into 16,980,000 ordinary, registered, dematerialised shares of equal 
value and rights.

The funds attracted from the capital market will support the company's development and 
strengthen its position in the water treatment and purification market by creating divisions 
focused on new technologies for improving water quality, i.e. online marketing of water 
treatment systems.

During 2022 and 2023, the company's efforts have been focused on starting a new business 
segment, exclusively targeting individuals, companies and the HoReCa sector, which 
markets water quality improvement and management systems online. The new 
business line, launched in February 2022, will generate diversification of the 
customer portfolio, where the end customer is a public beneficiary with private individual or 
corporate end customers. The online platform h2ok.ro, designed to encourage water care and 
healthy lifestyles, aims to become the most handy source for improving water 
quality or providing information that focuses on clean water in relation to 
health and the environment.

In 2023, Adiss continued the development of two new product lines, namely three-
chamber and four-chamber septic tanks for wastewater management after use in individual 
units, not connected to sewerage, such as houses in rural areas, holiday homes, agricultural 
annexes, guesthouses or motels. Given the extremely low level of wastewater treatment in 
areas without a sewage system, ADISS has designed this range to encourage the adoption 
of these systems and thus protect the environment and the health of individuals and 
communities. The new range consists of three-chamber ecological septic tanks ranging in size 
from 0.5 litres to 10,000 litres and four-chamber septic tanks ranging in size from 2,000 
litres to 10,000 litres produced by the company in its own factory. These were 
launched in February 2022.

10.2 Group and affiliated companies

For the purposes of these financial statements, parties are deemed to be related if the 
shareholders of one company own shares in another company. The situation with affiliated 
companies as at 31.12.2023 is presented as follows:

Crt. no. COMPANY SHAREHOLDERS PROCENT

1 ADISS SA Rat Cristian 75.03

List of other shareholders 154 
shareholders

24.97

2 ADISS NOVA SRL Rat Cristian 90,00

Rat Rodica 10,00

3 EVO CAPITAL SRL Rat Cristian 100,00

4 SPA METISE SRL Rat Cristian 19,00

Rat Rodica 81,00

5 VAN DER HANN SRL Rat Cristian 50,00

Rat Rodica 50,00

6 CORNEL RAT FOUNDATION ADISS SA 34.27



27

7 ADISS ASSET MANAGEMENT SA Rat Cristian 99,00

Rat Rodica 1,00

ADISS SA has to collect 80.120,40 lei from SC MTL SERVICES SRL, a company with which 
it was associated, but currently they are no longer in association, the amount being 
recorded in account 451.
- settlements between affiliated entities. ADISS SA has to pay to ADISS ASSET 
MANAGEMENT SA the amount of 2.282.000 lei representing a loan for the 
constitution of a collateral deposit at Cec Bank Baia Mare, amount recorded in the 
account 1661 Debts between affiliated entities.

Amounts due and receivable from related parties:

Customers

Company name Contacts
Sold 

31.12.2022 

D

Flow rate Rulaj credit
Sold 

31.12.2023 

D
ADISS NOVA SRL services+finished 

products
1.426.007,25 4.501.491,88 4.478.752,25 1.448.746,98

EVO CAPITAL SRL services+finished 
products

0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00

SPA METISE SRL mfa sale 330,00 0,00 0,00 330,00

VAN DER HANN 
SRL

0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00

CORNEL RAT 

FOUNDATION 0,00 0,00 0,00 0,00

ADISS ASETT 

MANAGEMENT Services 57.354,57 164.220,00 170.125,02 51.449,55

TOTAL 1.483.691,82 4.665.711,98 4.648.877,27 1.500.526,53

The transactions with Adiss Nova consist of the sale of sewage treatment plants according 
to
ongoing contracts respectively:
• for the Magurele wastewater treatment plant according to c-da nr. 25/16.11.2022;
• for the Baltatesti treatment plant according to c-da nr. 23/18.03.2022;
• for the Lunca treatment plant according to c-da no. 28/25.10.2023;
• for the Strugari wastewater treatment plant according to c-da nr. 27/03.05.2023.

The transactions with Spa Metisse consist of the sale of goods and with Adiss Asset 
Management for the invoicing of management, maintenance and utilities services under 
contract no. 1306/25.06.2021.

Suppliers

Company name Contacts

Sold 
31.12.2022 
C Flow rate Rulaj credit

Sold 
31.12.2023 
C

ADISS NOVA SRL services 0.00 0,00 11.740,54 11.740,54
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EVO CAPITAL SRL services 129.134,50 0,00 0,00 129.134,50

SPA METISE SRL services 0.00 0,00 0,00 0.00
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VAN DER HANN SRL 0.00 0,00 0,00 0.00

CORNEL RAT 
FOUNDATION

Rental 
services 4.000,00 22.360,00 25.953,00 407,00

ADISS ASSET 
MANAGEMENT 0.00 132.125,02 132.125,02 0.00

TOTAL 134.134,50 154.485,02 169.818,56 141.282,04

During 2023, ADISS carried out transactions with the Cornel Rat Foundation consisting 
of rental services of a car purchased through leasing from Unicredit Leasing and with 
Adiss Asset Management consisting of re-invoicing utilities (electricity, gas, water).

During 2023 Adiss takes out loans of 440,000 lei from Adiss Asset Management and of 
90,000 lei from Van Der Hann , according to the contracts concluded, with a due date of 
1 year and zero interest, for working capital, supplier payments, bank instalments and 
budgetary obligations.

10.3 Stocks

Law 31 December 2022 31 December 2023

Raw materials and consumables 3.085.561 3.952.789

Production in progress 24.354.845 24.616.921

Finished products + price differences 10.454.632 10.230.353

Third party products 2.128.829 1.604.095

Marfuri 14.237 6.392

Advances for stock purchases 1.411.217 652.859

Total 41.449.321 41.063.409

Stocks of raw materials and materials are recorded at purchase value. The company 
holds stocks of raw materials and materials older than 5 years amounting to 
6,889,115 lei. The valorisation of raw materials stock will continue through 
consumption in future projects and through market valorisation. The raw materials are 
kept in the packaging with which they were purchased and have not been modified or 
damaged.
Work in process inventory is recorded at actual production cost and finished goods inventory is 
recorded at actual cost. The company's management considers that no adjustments to the value of 
inventories are required. Unfinished production inventories have been valued at inventory 
valuation as fully active orders and finished goods inventory as recoverable at inventory 
value. The increase in operational activity, favoured by the inflow of working capital, is 
reflected in the change in inventories, which is reflected in financial performance 
through an increase in work in progress.
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Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include current accounts in lei and foreign currency, cash at home.

Law 31 December 2022 31 December 2023

Bank accounts in lei 95.641 536.846

Bank accounts in foreign currency 2.569 2.720

Cash in cash register lei 1.347 638

Cash in the cashier currency 405 82

Treasury advances - -

Short-term deposits - -

Other values 897.840 -

Total 997.802 540.286

10.5 Income structure

Operating income relates to goods sold and services provided.

Law 31 December 2022 31 December 2023

Income from production sold 43.140.284 38.133.745

Income from sale of goods 60.719 2.963

Total turnover 43.201.003 38.136.708

Income from changes in stocks of finished goods and 
work in progress 3.274.860 -486.937

Income from own production 29.000 -

Income from operating subsidies 15.750 -

Other operating income 73.610 57.655

Total operating income 46.594.223 37.707.426

As at 31.12.2023 the company recorded a turnover of 38,136,708 Lei, 11.72% below the level of 
the same period of the previous year, due to the reduction in sales activity as some projects 
were blocked due to lack of funds and others did not have the pace of execution as 
initially established for various reasons.

For the purpose of presentation in the profit and loss account, gains or losses arising on 
the cessation of use or disposal of an intangible or tangible asset are determined as the 
difference between the proceeds from the disposal of the asset and its undepreciated 
value, including expenses incurred on disposal, and must be presented net as income or 
expenses, as appropriate, in the profit and loss account under "Other operating income" or 
"Other operating expenses", as appropriate (art 189 and art 243 of OMFP 1802).
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10.6 Corporate income tax

During 2023, the company recorded an accounting profit of 198,252 lei.

The accounting profit, representing the difference between income and expenses for the 
financial year 2023 in the amount of 198,252 lei is composed of:

2.249.886 lei operating profit 
(1.824.212) lei financial loss.

The taxable profit for 2023, representing the difference between income earned in 2023 from any 
source and expenses incurred for the purpose of earning income, less non-taxable income and 
plus non-deductible expenses.
The tax profit for 2023 is 744,422 lei, consisting of :

198,252 lei representing the difference between income and expenditure of any kind;
465,338 lei non-deductible expenses with penalties and late payment surcharges;
90.745 lei other non-deductible expenses - travel, fuel, taxes and duties, inventory difference, 
protocol expenses, other expenses.;
(9,913) representing the legal reserve

The corporate income tax related to the fiscal profit is 119,107 lei from which the 
10% bonus according to GEO no. 153/2020 in the amount of 11,911 lei was deducted, 
resulting in a corporate income tax payable of 107,196 lei.

The resulting net profit in 2023 is 91,056 lei.

10.7 Financial result

As at 31.12.2023, the company records a financial loss of 2,051,634 lei, due to loans 
contracted, bearing interest and commissions and due to exchange rate differences. The 
financial loss increased compared to 2022 due to the fact that during 2023 the ROBOR index 
underwent constant fluctuations, increasing from one month to another, fluctuations which 
resulted in the increase of interest rates on credit facilities in Ron contracted from 
Cec Bank SA.

10.8 Guarantees and contractual obligations

Guarantees granted to third parties

As at 31 December 2023, the company has issued letters of guarantee in 
favour of the beneficiaries, both in lei and in eur within the framework of the agreements 
signed with CEC Bank SA Baia Mare, in the amount of 1,250,000 lei and 20,000 eur. Within the 
framework agreement of multicredit facility no. 1009 dated 23.04.2018, the amount of 
39,457.97 eur was used for the issuance of letters of credit.
As at 31 December 2023 the company has dates and performance guarantees to customers, 
amounting to 2,978,493.32 lei, through successive deductions from invoices issued by ADISS 
SA, according to commercial contracts concluded between the parties. The letters of 
guarantee of good execution are generally valid for 12 to 24 months from the signing 
of the minutes on completion of the works.

10.9 Grants

Grants received in 2009 for the purchase of assets were recorded as investment grants in the 
annual balance sheets and recognised in the income statement as depreciation expense or on 
disposal of the assets purchased with the grant was recognised, and were completed in 
2018.

In 2022, the company received subsidies for the employment of unemployed persons over 45 
years of age registered in the records of the agency since September 2021.

In the year 2023 the company has not registered any subsidies.
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10.10 Risk management

Main risks to which the Company is exposed and policies applied .

(i) Currency risk

The company operates in Romania, in an economic environment characterized by a 
fluctuation of the national currency against other currencies, especially against the EURO. There 
is therefore a risk of depreciation in the value of net monetary assets denominated in 
lei.

(ii) Market risk

The Romanian economy is in transition, and there is already certainty about the future 
evolution of economic policy and development through Romania's accession to the 
European Union. However, the Company's management cannot foresee the changes that 
will take place in Romania and their effects on the Company's financial situation, 
operating results and cash flows.
The company's management believes that it is taking all necessary measures to support 
the growth of the company's activity in current market conditions by:
- constant monitoring of liquidity;
- current liquidity forecasts;
- daily monitoring of cash flows and assessment of the effects on its creditors, limited 
access to funds and the possibility of increasing operations in Romania.

10.11 Environmental issues

ADISS SA contributes to a large extent to the protection of the environment by the 
very destination of the products manufactured by the company, namely:

- ADIPUR SYSTEM 200 - 6 000 ELS (Standard Population Equivalent) Compact 
Wastewater Treatment Plants
- ADIPUR-B SYSTEM compact wastewater treatment plants 3 000 - 100 000 
ELS (Standard Population Equivalent)
- Equipment and appliances for wastewater treatment plants
- Specialized bodywork for Vacuum and Self-Cleaning machines - for municipal 
sewers
- Specialized waste collection/compacting machines - for household waste
- Three- and four-chamber ecological septic tanks for the treatment of domestic 
wastewater for users in areas that are not connected to a centralised sewage system, such as 
houses in rural areas, holiday homes, farm annexes, guesthouses or motels.

10.12 Litigation

During 2023 the company was involved in several commercial disputes, both with suppliers and 
customers of the company, such as : Aqua Construct SRL, Com Trade SRL, Moz Instal SRL, RADEXIM 
TRANS SRL, litigations that some have been finalized and others are still ongoing, without 
affecting the smooth running of the company's activity.
From the report prepared by the lawyers of Bejenaru&Partners SRL, it appears that most of 
the litigations are for the recovery by Adiss SA of outstanding debts, their values being much 
higher than the payment of commercial debts for which Adiss is a defendant in several 
court cases.

10.13 Internal audit

During 2023 a total of 8 internal auditor audits were carried out.
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It concluded that the company is conducting its business properly - no significant 
deviations from the internal rules and procedures or the general legal framework for 
operation and reporting were identified.

10.14 Audit of annual financial statements

The financial statements for the year 2023 were audited by ACTIV PRO AUDIT SRL SRL, 
with registered office in Baia Mare, Aleea Expozitiei nr. 2, Fiscal Code 17079409, 
J24/1953/2004, financial auditor, member of the Chamber of Financial 
Auditors of Romania (CAFR), with authorization number 562/31.01.2005, on the basis 
of the company's articles of association and audit contract no. 7 dated 15.03.2021.

10.15 Subsequent elements

During the state of emergency/alert state instituted as a result of COVID-19 the company did 
not stop its activity and the employees were not sent on technical unemployment.

From the end of the financial year 2023 until March 2024, our company has signed a 
number of 2 commercial and service contracts and will participate in 2 more tenders 
during March and April. During this year we expect to award contracts for 2 tenders participated 
in during 2023 amounting to
48.300.000 lei+VAT. Offers for sale-purchase of equipment were sent for a total 
amount of 3.024.500 euro+VAT.

Director-General Chief Accountant

ing. Dancos Eniko ec. Cosma Eniko Irina
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ADISS SA

C.U.I RO3359107

DECLARATION on own responsibility

In accordance with the provisions of OMFP 1802/2014 and art.30 of the Accounting Law 
82/91, the annual financial statements as at 31.12.2023 have been prepared for the 
legal entity ADISS SA from Maramures county 24, locality Tautii Magheraus, CUI 
RO3359107; J24/310/1993, main activity 2829 Manufacture of other general purpose 
machinery and equipment, form of ownership S.A.

The Chief Accountant of Cosma Eniko Irina , assumes responsibility for the preparation of 
the annual accounts as at 31.12.2023 and confirms that:

1. The accounting policies used in the preparation of the annual financial statements 
are in accordance with applicable accounting regulations.

2. The annual financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position, 
financial performance and other information relating to the business.

3. The legal entity carries out its activity on a continuous basis.

Chief 

Accountant 

Cosma Eniko 

Irina



ADISS SA 

J24/310/1993 

CUI: RO 

3359107

Statement of changes in equity as at 31.12.2023

Growth Discounts Balance 
at 
31,12,2023Item name Sold on 01,01,2022

Total, of 
which:

By 
transfer Total, of which: By transfer

A 1 2 3 4 5 6
Subscribed capital 8.490.000 - - - - 8.490.000
The heritage of the regie 0 - - - - 0
Capital premium 4.240.000 - - - - 4.240.000
Revaluation reserves 458.702 - - - - 458.702
Legal reserves 431.525 9.913 - - - 441.438

Statutory or contractual reserves 0 - - - - 0

Reserves representing the surplus 
realised on revaluation reserves 3,073,889 - - - - 3,073,889
Other reserves 6.564.556 - - - - 6.564.556
Own shares 0 - - - - 0

Sold
C 3.385.900 577.080 - - - 3.962.980

Retained earnings representing profit
unallocated or uncovered loss

Sold 
D 0 - - - - 0
Sold
C 0 - - - - 0Retained earnings from the adoption of

for the first time IAS minus IAS 29³² Sold 
D 0 - - - - 0
Sold 
C 0 - - - - 0Retained earnings from correction of 

accounting errors Sold
D 241.007 - - - - 241.007

Sold 
C 0 - - - - 0Retained earnings arising from the transition 

to the application of the accounting rules 
in accordance with the Fourth
European Economic Communities

Sold 
D 0 - - - - 0
Sold
C 616.731 91.056 - 616.731 - 91.056

Profit or loss for the financial year Sold
D - - - - - 0

Profit sharing
Sold
D 39.650 9.913 - 39.650 - 9.913

Total equity 26.980.646 687.962 - 656.381 - 27.071.701

Administrator Intocmit

Full name, Name and surname,

Dancos Eniko Cosma Eniko Irina

Dir. General Chief Accountant
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